10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

Case 8:14-cr-00034-JL.S Document 1 Filed 02/21/14 Page 1 of 14 Pagé ID#:1
3

Ed

4
12 8344182

i
ERP

82 :0IHY

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SOUTHERN DIVISION

UI\T.ITED STA’II‘ES OF AMERICA, SA CR NS AzE R 14 - 0 O 0 3 4

Plaintiff, INFORMATION
v. | [18 U.8.C. § 371: Conspiracy;
: 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b) (2} {A):
MICHAEL D. DROBOT, Payment of Kickbacks in Connection
with a Federal Health Care
Defendant. Program]

The United States Attorney alleges:
COUNT ONE
[18 U.8.C. § 371]

A, RELEVANT PERSCONS AND ENTITIES

At all times relevant to this Information:

1. Pacific Hospital of Long Beach (“Pacific Hospital”) was a
hospital located in Long Beach, California, specializing in
surgeries, partiéularly spinal and orthopedic sﬁrgeries. From at
leagt in or around 1997 to in or around November 2013, Pacific
Hospital was owned and/or operated by defendant MICHAEL D. DROBOT

{*defendant DROBOT*) .
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2. International Implants LLC (“I2”) was a limited liability
company owned and operated by defendant DROBOT that was located in
Newport Beach, California. I2 purchased implantable medical devices
(“hardware”) for use in spinal surgeries from original manufacturers

and sold them to hospitals, particularly Pacific Hospital. I2 was

| registered with the United States Food and Drug Administration as a

repackager/relabeler, but was not registered as a manufacturer, and,
in fact, did not manufacture medical devices,

3. Ronald 8. Calderon was an elected California State éenator
(*Senator Calderon”) who owed a fiduciary duty and a duty of honest
services to the citizens of California, including his constituents in
the 30th Senate Digtrict, which includéd, among othersg, the cities of
Bell, Béll Gardens, Commerce, Cudahy, Montebello, Norwalk, Pico

Rivera, Santa Fe Springs, and Whittier.

B. RELEVANT LECGISLATION

4. The California.Workers’ Compensation System (“CWCS”) was a
system created by California law to provide insurance covering
treatment of injury or illness suffered 5y individuals in the course
of their employment. Under the CWCS, employers were required to
purchase workers’ compensation insurance policies from insurance
carriers to cover their employees. When an employee suffered a
covered injury or illness and received medical services, the medical
service provider submitted a claim for payment to the relevant
insurance carrier, which then paid the claim. Claims were submitted
to and paid by the insurance carriers either by mail or
electronically. The CWCS was governed by_varioUs California laws and

regulations.
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5.  The California State Compensation Insurance Fund (“SCIF”}
was a non-profit insurance carrier, created by the California
Legislature, which provided workers' compensation insurance to
employees in California, including serving as the “insurer of last
resort" under the CWCS system for employeés without any other
coverage. | |

6. -California law, including but not limited to the California
Businesgs and Professions Code, the California Insurance Code, and the
California Labor Code, prohibited the offering, dgli#ering,
sollciting, or receivingrof anything of value in return for referring
a patient for medical services. _

?. Before January 2013, California law allowed a hospital to
bill the cost of medical hardware separately from the other costs of
a gpinal surgery, such as the hospital’s and surgeon’'s services, ther
reimbursement rates of which were set by.a fee schedule. The .
hardware was considered a “pass~through” cost and billing'waé limited
to $250 over what the hospital paid for the hardware. |

8. Between in or aroﬁnd January 2010 and in or around August
2012, the California Senate and the Division of Workers'
Compensation, an ageﬁcy within the CWCS éyétem, took several steps
designed to modify or eliminate this pass-through. This was due, in
part, to studies that showed eliminating this pass-through could
result in savings of as much as $60 million.

9. By January 2013, California law was changed to eliminate
the separate billing of medical hardware used in spinal surgeries;
subsequently, reimbursement for all costs of such a surgery was

limited to a fee schedule.
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10. The Federal Employees'.Compensation Act (“FECA") provided
benefits to civilian employees of the United Sﬁates, including United
States Postal Service employees, for medical expenses and'wage-loss
disability due to a traumatic injury or occupational disease
sustained while working as a federal employee. Benefits available to
injured employees included rehabilitation, medical, surgical,
hospital, pharmaceutical, and supplies for treatment of an injury.
The Department of Labor ("DOL”) - Office of Workers' Compensation

Programs (“OWCP”) was the governmental body responsible for

administering the FECA. When a federal employee suffered a covered

injury or illness and received medical services, the medical service
provider submit;ed a claim for payment by mail or electronically to
Affiliated Computer Services (“ACS"), located in London, Kentucky,
which was contracted with the DOL to handle such claims. Upon
approval of the claim, ACS sent payment by mail or electronic funds
transfer from the U.S. Treasuxy in Philadelphia, Pennsylvaniaj to the
medical service provider.

-11. Federal law prohibited the offering, delivering,
soliciting, or receiving of anything of value in return for referring
a patient for medical services paid for by a federal health care
benefit program.

C. OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY

12. Beginning in or around 1998 and continuing to in or around
November 2013, in Orange and Los Angeles Counties, within the Central
District of California, and elsewhere, defendant DROBOT, together
with other co-consgpirators known and unknown to the United States
Attorney, knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed to commit the
following offenses against the United States: 18 U.S8.C. §§ 1§41 and

4
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1346 (Mail Fraud and Honest Services Mail Fraud); 18 U.8.C. §
1952(a) (3) (Interstate Travel in Aid of a Racketeering Enterprise);
18 UhS.C.hS 1957 (Monetary Transactions in Property Derived from
Specified Unlawful Activity); and 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b) {2) (&)
(Payment or Receipt of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal Health

Care Program) .

D. MANNER AND MEANS TC ACCOMPLISH THE CONSPIRACY

13. The objects of the conspiracy were to be carried ouﬁ, and
were carried out, in the following ways, among others:
a. Defendant DROBOT and other co-conspirators offered to

pay kickbacks to dozens of doctors, chiropractors, marketers, and

others for their referring workers’ compensation patients to Pacific

Hospital for spinal surgeries, other types of surgeries, magnetic
resonance imaging, toxicology, durable medical equipment, and other
services, to be paid primarily through the CWCS and the FECA. For
spinal sufgeries, typically, defendant DROBOT offered to pay a
kickback of $15,000 per lumbar fusion surgery and $10,000 per

cervical fusgion surgery.

b. Influenced by the promise of kickbacks, doctors,
chiropractors, marketers, and others referred patients insured
through the CWCS and the FECA to Pacific Hospital for spinal
aufgeries, other types of surgeries, and other medical services. The
workers' compensation patients were not informed that the medical
professionals had been offered kickbacks to induce them to refer the
surgeries and other medical services to Pacific Hospital.

c. The surgeries and other medical services were
performed on the referred workers’ compénsation patients at Pacific

Hospital.




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23

24

26
27

28

Case 8:14-¢r-00034-JL.S Document 1 Filed 02/21/14 Page 6 of 14 Page ID #:6

d. I2, cor, at times, another distribﬁtor who wags a co-
conspirator, purchased medical hardware from a manufacturer aﬁd scld -
it to Pacific Hospital for use in spinal surgeries. Typically, the
price I2 or the co~conspiratdr distributor charged for the hardware
was inflated by a multiple of the price at which I2 or the other
distributor had purchased the device from the manufacturer. At some
point, I2 included a stamp on its invoices falsely stating that I2
wasg an “FDA Regigtered Manufacturer.”

e. Pacific Hospital submitted claims, by mail and
electronically, to SCIF and other workers’ compensation insurance
carriers for payment of the costs of the surgeries and other medical
services. Included with the claims for spinal surgeries were the
inflated hardware invoices from I2 or the co-conspirator distributor.
| E. As defendant DROBOT and the other co—conspirétors knew
and intended, and as was reasonably-foreseeabie to them, in
submitting claims for payment, Pacific Hospital made materially false
and misleading statements to, and concealed material information
from, SCIF and other workers’' compensation insurance carriers,
including that a) Pacific Hospital did not disclose to the insurance
carriers that it had offered‘or paid kickbacks for the referral of
the surgeries and other medical services for which it was submitting
claims, and b) the hardwafe invoices were fraudulently infléted.

g. The insurancé carriers paid Pacific Hospital’s c¢laims,
by mail or electronically.

h. Defendant DROBOT and other co-conspirators paid and
caused others to pay kickbacks to the doctors, chiropractoré,
marketers, and others who had referred patients to Pacific Hospital
for surgeries and other medical services.

6
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i. To conceal.the nature of the kickback payments from
both workers’ compensation insurance carriers and patients, defendant
DROBOT, through one of the companies he owned and/or operated,
entered into bogus cdntracts with the doctors, chiropractors,

marketers, and others. The services discussed in those contracts

|| were, in fact, génerally not provided or were provided at highly

inflated prices; rather, the compensation paid was based on the
number and type of surgeries and other medical services referred to
Pacific Hospital. Defendant DROBOT and his co-conspirators entered
into the following bogus contracts, among others, in oxder to hide
kickback payments: collection agreements, option agreements,
research and development agreements, lease and rental agreements,
consulting agreements, marketing agreements, and management
agreements.

. Defendant DROBOT and other co-conspirators kept
records of the number of surgeries and other medical servicgs
performed at Pacific Hospital due to referrals from the kickback
recipients, as well amounts paid to the kickback recipients for those
referrals. Periodically, defendant DROBOT and other co-conspirators
amended the bogus contracts with the kickback recipients to increase
or decreage the amount of agreed compensation described in the
contracts, in order to match the amount of kickbacks paid or promised
in return for referrals.

k. The spinal pass-through, the provision of California
law that allowed Pacific Hospital to fraudulently inflate the cost of
the medical hardware used during spinal surgeries, was a vital
component of defendant DROBOT's ability to pay kickbackslto the
doctors, chiropractorsg, marketers, and others who had referred

7
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patients to Pacific Hospital for surgéries and other medical
services.

1. To prevent and delay steps being taken in the
California Senate and the Division of Workers’ Compensation to limit
or eliminate the pass-through, as well as to promote legislative
efforts that would protect and expand his health care fraud scheme,
défendant DROBOT would pay bribes to Senator Calderon to influence,
and in exchange for, Senator Calderon’s official acts reiating to the
pass-through and other areas of workers’ compensation.and regulation.

m. The bribe payments were primarily in the form of
hiring Senator Calderon’s son to perform clerical duties at oﬁe or
more of defendant DROBOT's companles during the summers of 2010,
2011, and 2012, and paying Senator Calderon’s son approximately
$10,000 per summer for approximately 15 days of work per summer.
Defendant DROBOT would also provide Senator Calderon a stream of
other financial benefits, such as trips on privately chartered
airplanes, golf at exclusive, high-end golf resorts, and meals at
expensive restaufants.

n. In exchange for these financial benefits, defendant
DROBOT would have Senator Calderon perform officiai acts favorable to |
defendant DROBOT in connection with the spinal pass-through and other
areas of worker's compensation legislation and regulation. For
example, defendant DROBOT would have Senator Calderon arrange and
participate in meetings with other public officials and their staff,
where defendant DROBOT and Senator Calderon would attempt to convince
the other public officials and thei£ staff to take action favorable
to defendént DROBOT in connection with the spinél pass-through and
other areas of worker’s compensation legislation and regulation.

g
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More specifically, this favorable action by Senator Calderon and
other public officials would support defendant DROBOT's ability to
commit and expand his health care fraud scheme.

H EFFECTE OF THE CONSPIRACY

14. Had SCIF and the other workers’ compensation insurance
carriers known the true facts regarding a) the payment of kickbacks
for the referral of workers’ compensation patients for surgeries and
other medical services performed at Pacific'Hospital, and b) the

fraudulent inflation of the cost of medical hardware used in spinal

surgeries, they would pot have paid the claims or would have paid a

lesser amournt.

15, From in or around 2008 to in or around April 2013, Pacific
Hospital billed workers’ compensation insurance carriers
approximately $500 millien in c¢laims for spinal surgeries that were
the result of the paymeht of a kiékback; and defendant DROBOT or
other co-conspirators paid kickback recipients between approximately
$20 million and $50 million in kickbacks relating to those claims.

B OVERT ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY

16. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish. the
objects of the conspiracy, defendant DROBOT and other co-conspirators

known and unknown to the United States Attorney, committed various

overt acts within the Central District of California, including but

not limited to the following:

Overt Act No. 1

On or about November 10, 2009, defendant DROBOT caused a chedk
in the amount of $43,650.00 from SCIF to be sent by mail to Pacific

Hospital in reimbursement for a c¢laim for spine surgery on patient
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J.M. performed by doctor C.D., which claim was induced by the paymént
of a kickback to J.C.

Overt Act No; 2

In or avound February 2010, defendant DROBOT met with
Senator Calderon inASacramento, California, and agreed to hire
Senator Calderon’s son each summer for the next several summers and
to pay him $10,000 per summer, so that Senator Calderon would have
enough money to pay foﬁ his son's coilega tuition.

Overt Act No., 3

On dr about. April 14, 2010, defendant DROBOT caused a‘check in
the amount of $90,467.80 from SCIF to be sent by mail to Pacific
Hospital in reimbursement fdr a claim for spine surgery on patient
L.T. performed by doctor M.C., which claim was induced by the payment
of a kickback to P.S. | N

Overt Act No. 4

In or around April 2010, defendant DROBOT had Senator Calderon
meet with & Director at the Division of.Workers’ Compengation and
discuss the negative impact that proposed regulations would have on

Pacific Hospital and other hospitals.

Overt Act No. 5
On or about July 13, 2010, defendant DROBOT caused Senatoxr
Calderon’s son to be paid $10,000 in advance of clerical work Senator

Calderon’s son was to perform at one of defendant DROBOT's companies.

/7
.
/7
/]

16
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Overt Act No. 6

In or around February 2011, defendant DROBOT had Senator
Caldercn meet with Senator A and request that Sénator A introduce
legislation in the California Senate that would be favorable to
defendant DROBOT.

Qvert Act No. 7

On oxr about March 31,'2011, defendant DROBOT caused a check in
the amount of $23,531.23 from Vanliner to be gsent by mail to Pacific

Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on patient

R.S8. performed by doctor 8.0., which claim was induced by the payment

of a kickback to S§.0. i

Overt Act No., 8

On or about July 11, 2011, defendant DROBOT caused Senator
Calderon’s son to be paid $5,000 for clerical work Senator Calderon’s
son had performed at one of defendant DROBOT's companies.

Qvert Act No. 9

On or about August 16, 2011, defendant DROBOT caused Senator

Calderon’s son to be paid $5,000 for c¢lerical work Senator Calderon’s

son had performed at one of defendant DROBOT’s companies.

Overt Act No. 10

On oxr about Junerlz, 2012, defendant DROBOT had Senator Calderon
arrange and participate in é meeting with Senator B, where Senator
Calderon and defendant DROBOT discussed the negative impact Senator
B’s proposed legislation would have on Pacific Hospital and other
hospitals.

overt Act No., 11

On or about June 29, 2012, defendant DROBOT caused a kickback in
the amount of $100,000 to be paid to 8.0. for the referral of lumbar

11
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and cervical spinal surgeries performed at Pacific Hospital,
including on patients covered by the FECA.

Overt Act No. 12

On or about August 1, 2012, defendant DROBOT authorized Senator
Calderon’s son to be pald a gross salary of $18,510.90 for clerical
wofk Senator Calderon’s son was perfbrming at one of defendant
DROBOT's companies in order to guarantee that Senator Calderon’'s
son’s take-home (or net) salary totaled approximately $10,000 for the
sﬁmmer of 2012. |

Overt Act No. 13

On or about January 18, 2013, defendant DROBOT caused a check in
the amount of $51,115.44 from Travelexr’'s Insurance to be gent by mail

to Pacific Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on

patient F.C. performed by doctor T.R., which claim was induced by the

payment of a kickback to T.R.

Overt Act No. 14

On or about January 24, 2013, defendant DROBOT caused a check in
the amount oﬁ $117,142.36.from vanliner to be sent-by mail to Pacific
Hogpital in reimbursement fof a claim for spine surgery on patient
$.F. performed by doctor G.A., which claim was induced by the payment
of a kickback to G.A.

Overt Act No, 15

.On or about April 24, 2013, defendant DROBOT caused a check in
the amount of $24,209,90 from ICW to be sent by mail to Pacific
Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery.on patient
F.A. performed by doctor L.T;, which claim was induced by the payment

of a kickback to L.T.

12
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Overt Act No. 16

On or about November 27, 2013, defendant DROBOT caused a check
in the amount of $50,903.76 from Traveler’s Insurance to be sent by
mail to Pacific Hospital in reiwmbursement for a c¢laim for spine
surgery on patient T.V. performed by doctor L.T., which claim

resulted from the payment of a kickback to A.I.

13
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COﬁNT TWO
[42 U.8.C. § 1320a-7b(b) (2} (B)]
17. Paragraphs one through eleven of this Information are re-
alleged and incorporated as if fully set forth herein.
18. Beginning in or around 1998 and continuing to in or around

November 2013, in Orange and Los Angeles Counties, within the Central

: District of California, and elsewhere, defendant DROBOT, together

with other co~conspirators Xnown énd unknown to the United States
Attorney, knowingly and willfully offered and paid remuneratibn, that
is, cash and checks, directly and indirectly, to persoris to induce
those persons to refer individuals to Pacific Hospital for spinal
surgery and other medical services for which payment could be made in

whole and in part under a Federal health care program, namely, the

FECA.

ANDRE BIROTTE JR.
" United gtates Attorney

~~~Tr=ant United States Attorney
Chief, Criminal Division

DENNTSE D. WILLETT
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Santa Ana Branch Office

JEANNIE M. JOSEPH
Agsistant United States Attorney
beputy Chief, Santa Ana Branch

JOSHUA M. ROBBINS
Assistant United States Attorney

14
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IN BEHALF OF THE PLAINTIFF,
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

IN BEHALF OF THE DEFENDANT,
MICHAEL D. DROROT:

JEANNIE M. JOSEPH

JOSHUA RCBBINS

AUSA - OFFICE OF US
ATTORNEY

CRIMINAL DIVISION

411 WEST 4TH STREET SUITE
gooa :

SANTA ANA, CA 92701-4599

TERREE ALTLAN BOWERS

ARENT FOX LLP _
555 WEST FIFTH STREET 48TH
FLOOR

1,03 ANGELES, CA 50013-1065

- AND -

JEFFREY H. RUTHERFORD
DEREK HAHN

CROWELL AND MORING LLP
515 SOUTH FLOWER STREET
40TH FLOOR

LOS ANGELES, CA 20071

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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SANTA ANA, CALIFORNIA; THURSLDAY, APRIL 24, 2014; 2:03 P.M.

THE CLERK: Calling SACR14-00034-JLS. United -
States of America vs. Michael Drobot.

Counsel, please state your appearance for the
record.

MS. JOSEPHS: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

Jeannie Joseph and Joshua Robbins on behalf of the
Unifed States.

| THE COURT: Geood afternoon.

MR. RUTHERFORD: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

Terree Bowers and Jeffrey Rutherford on behalf of
Mr. Michael Drobot, who is present.

THE COURT: Good afternoon.

MR, RUTHERFORD: Good afternocn, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I understand Mr. Drobot wants to plead
guilty pursuanf to the plea agreement that was filed with the-
Court on February 2lst; 1s that correct?

MR. HAHN: That's correct, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: That pleé agreement will be
incorporated and made part of these proceedings here today.
If you weuld like to move to the lectern with your client,
please.

Mr. Drobot, before I accept your plea of guilty

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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today, I have to make sure you're fully informed of your
constituticnal rights and that you-understand the nature of
these proceedings here today. To do that, I'm going to
explain to ycu the‘constitutional rights that you have and
I'm going to ask you & series of questions. If at any ﬁoint
in time you don't understand one of'my questions or you need

me to repeat it cor rephrase it, please let me know,_and'I

"will do that.

Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Also, 1f at any point during these
proceedings you'd like to speak with your attorney about
anything, please let me know. I'll pause. the proceedings.
We'll give you the opportunity to do that.

Do you understand? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

' THE COURT: And if the clerk could please
administer the oath. |

Michael D. Drobot, defendant, sworn;

THE COURT: Mr. Drobot, do you understand that

“you've just been placed under oath. If you answer any of my

questions falsely, your answers may be used against you in a
later prosecution for perjury or for making a false
statement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: Also, I want to make sure that you

understand you have the right to remain silent. That's one

of the censtituticnal rights I'm going to tell you about

today.

questions.

However, if we proceed today, I will be asking you

You will you be answering those guestions.

Meaning, you will be giving up your right to remain silent.

name?

completed?

Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I understand.

THE COURT: Do you give up that right?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE CCURT: Counsel, join?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What is your full, true, and correct

THE DEFENDANT: Michael Dennis Drobot.
THE CCURT: How cld are you, Mr. Drobot?
THE DEFENDANT: €9.

THE CCURT: How many vyears of schooling have you

THE DEFENDANT: Through an MBA.

THE CCURT: Have you been treated recently for any

mental illness of any kind?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you been treated recently for any

addiction to narcotics of any kind?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT CQURT
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THE BEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Are you currently on or taking any
medication or under the influence of any alcoholic beverage,
any drug of any sort?

" THE DEFENDANT: ©No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you suffer from any kind of meﬁtal
condition cr any disability that would prevent you from fully
understanding the nature of the charges against you or the
consequences of entering a gullty plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE CCOURT: Do ycu know of any reason why we should

not go focrward with your plea today?

THE DIFENDANT: Neo, I don't.

THE COURT: And, Counsel, have you spcken with vour
client today about the nature of these proceedings?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Do you have any reason to believe.that
he should not go forward with his plea today?

| MR. BOWERS: None whaﬁso@ver, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Do you believe he's in full possession
of his faculties and that he is competent to the proceed?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Then kased on the statements of the
defendant and his counsel and based on the Court's own

observaticns, I find that the defendant is in full possession

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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of his faculties and is competent to proceed.

Mr. Drobot, vyou have been charged in Count 1 of the
information with conspiracy in violation of 18 United States
Code Section 371. In Ccunt 2, with payment of kickbacks in
connection wifh a federal health care program in wviclatiocn of
42 United States Code Section 1320(a) through 7{b) subsection
(b)(2)(A). These are felony charges.

You have a constitutional right to be charged by an
indictment returned by a grand jury. A grand jury is
composed of at least 16 and not more than 23 persons. At
least 12 grand'jurors must find that there is probable cause
to believe you committed the crime with which you are cﬁarged
before yoﬁ may be indicted.

Now, I have in front of me, a signed waiver of
indictment form that was filed with the Court on March 31st
of this year iﬁdicating that you waive your right to be
charged by an indictment and that you agree to proceed by way
of information; |

Do you have that walver of indictment form,
Counsel?

MR. BOWERS: Not with me, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Not with you. Let me see if -~ if
not --

MS. JCSEPHS: The Government has one, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Joseph.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT CQURT
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Is that your signature on the form, Mr. Drobot?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
THE CCURT: Before you signed this, did you discuss

waiving your right to an indictment by the grand jury with

_your lawyef?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did, Your Honor.

THE COURT: By waiving your right to an indictment
by the grand Jjury, the case will proceed against you on. the
U.5. Attorney's information as though you had been indicted.

Has anyone made any promises, representations, or
guarantees to you of ahy kind to get you to waive your right
to an indictment?

THE DEFENDANT: WNo, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Has anyone threatened you in any way or
threatened a close family member to get you to waive your
right to an indictment§

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you want to waive, that is, giﬁe up
your right to an indictment and proceed by way of the U.S.
Attorney's information?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: 'Counsel, I'm sorry, your name, Ccunsel
again®? |

MR. BOWERS: Terree Bowers, excuse me.

THE COURT: When I have number of names in front of

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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me, I have to remember which one was which. Thank you.

Mr. Bowérs, have you discussed with your client his
right te be charged by an indictment?
| MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you know of any reason why he should
not waive indictment?

MR, BCWERS: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied that his waiver is
knowingly, voluntarily; and intelligently made?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Ycur Honor.

- THE COURT: Do you join and concur in the waiver?

MR. BOWERS: I join and concur.

THE COURT: 1In the case of the United States df.r
America vas. Michael D. Drobot, the Court finds that the
defendaﬁt is fﬁlly aware of the nature of his right to
require tﬁat the Geovernment proceed by way of an
information -- c¢r by way of an indictment, and the Court
finds that his waiver is knowingly, voluntarily, and
intelligently made. The Court accepts the waiver.

Now, Mr. Drobcet, have you received a copy of the
information; that is, the written statement of.the charges
against vyou?

THE DEFENDANT; Yes, I have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You haﬁe the right to have that

information read to you. Would you like me to read that to

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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you now?

THE DEFENDANT: It's not necessary, Your Honocr.

THE COURT: Dc you give up that right?

THE DEFENDANT: I do give up the right.

THE COURT: Ndw, youlalsd have the foliowing
constitutional rights that you will be giving up.if you plead
guilty. I'm going to describe those for you. So I want you
tQ-listen carefully.

You have the right to plead not guilty to any
offense charged. You have the right to persist in that plea.
You have a right to a speedy and public trial. You have the
right teo a trial by jury. At that trial, you woﬁld be
presumed to be innocent, and the Governmenﬁ woﬁld have to
prove your gullt by proving each element of the cffense
beyond a reasonable doubt.

If both you and the Government give up the right to

a jury trial, then you have the right to be tried by the

~Court. You have the right to the assistance of counsel for

your defense throughout the ?roceedings, and if you cannot
afford counsel, the Court will appocint counsel for yoﬁ to
repregent you free of charge at trial and at every other
stage of the proceedings.

You have the right to confront and cross-examine
the witnesses against you. That means you have the right to

see the witnesses and hear them testify and have them

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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quesﬁioned by your lawyer. You have the righﬁ to have
witnesses subpoenaed and compelled to testify on your behalf,
You have the right to téstify on your own behalf if you -
choose to do so, but you also have the privilege against’
self-incrimination, as I stated earlier. That means that you
have the right ndt to testify or incriminate yourself in any
way. If this case went to trial, and you decided not to
testify, that fact could not be used against you.

By pleading gquilty, you will be giving up that
right and incriminating yourself. You have the right to
appeal your ceonviction and your sentence if you go to trial
and you are convicted.

Has your lawyer advised you of all these rights?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand all of themé

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Dc you have any questions about any of
themé

THE DEFENDANT: No, I don't, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Would you like any more time Lo talk to
your lawyer about any of them?

THE DEFENDANT: It's not necessary.

THE CCURT: Do you understand that if your plea is
accepted, vou will be incriminating yourself and you will be

giving up the rights I've just described for you, including

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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your right to a jury trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you give up these rights?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, 1 cilo_jr Yoqr Honor.

THE CCURT: And Mxr., Bowers, are you satisfied that
the waivers are knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently
‘made?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, I am, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you join and concur in the waivers?

MR. BOWERS: I join, Your Honor.

THE COURT: As I stated previously, Mr. Drobet,
you've been charged in Count 1 of the information with
conspiracy in vioclation of 18 United States Code Section 371
and in Count 2 with payment of kickbacks in connection with
the federal health care program in violation of 42 United
States Code Section 1320 (a) through (7) (b) subsection (b)

(2) (A) . These are felony charges.

And, Ms. Joseph, if you could please state the
elements of the charges, including the elements of the
substantive crimes underlying the cbnspiracy charge.

MS. JOSEPHS: Yes, Your Honor. For the defendant
to be guilty of the crime charged in Count 1 of the
information, which is conspiracy, in violation of Title 18
United States Ccde Section 371, the following must be true:

Number one, beginning in or around 1998 and

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT




02:14PM

02:14PM

02:14PM

02:14PM

02:15EM

Case 8:14-cr-00034-JL.S Document 42 Filed 10/27/15 Page 13 0t 45 Page ID #:172

10

11

12

13

14

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

13

continuing in or arcund November 2013, there was an agreement
between two or more persons to commit a violation of Title 18
United States Code sections 1341 and 1346, mail fraud and
honest servicés mail fraud. Title 18 United States Code_
Section 1852 (a} (3), interstate travel in aid of racketeering
enterprise. Title 18 United States Code Section 1957,
monetary transactions and property derived from specified
unlawful activity. Title 42 United States Codé

Section 1320(a)(7)fb) subsecticns (b) (2) (A), payment or
receipt of kickbacks in connection with the federal healfh
care program.

Second, defendant became a member of the-conSpiracy
knowing of at‘least one of its objects and intending to help
accomplish it. |

Three, cne of the members.of the conspiracy
performed at least one overt act for the purpose of carrying
out the conspiracy.

Mail fraud in violation of Title718 United States
Code Section 1341 has the folleowing elements:

| Number one, the defendant knowiﬁgly devised or
participafed in a scheme dr plan to aefraud or a schemeior
plan fér obtaining money or property by means of false or
fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises.

Number two, the statements made or facts omitted as

part of the scheme were material; that is, they had a natural

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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tendency to influence or were capable of influencing a person
to part with money or property.

Number three, the defendant acted with the intent
to defraud. |

Number four, the defendant used or caused tolBe
used the mails to carry cut or attempt to carry out an
essential.part of the scheme.

Honest Services Mail Fraud in violation Title 18
United States Code Section 346 has the following elements:

Number one, the defendant devised or participated
in a Scheme orrplan to deprive a patient of his or his right
to honest services.

Number two, the scheme or plan consisted of a bribe
or kickback in exchange for medical services.

Number.three, a medical-professional person owed a
fiduciary duty to the patient.

| Number fcour, the defendant acted with the intent to
défraud by'depriving the patient of his or her right of
honest sarvices.

Number fiﬁe, the defendant's act was material; that
is, it had a natural tendency to influence or was capable of
influenciﬁg a person's acts.

Number six, the defendant used or caused somebody
to use the mails to carry out or attempt to carry out the

plan or scheme.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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Interstate travel in aid of a racketeering
enterprise in viclation of a Title 18 United States Code
Section i952(a)(3) has the foLlowing elements:

Number one, defendant used the mail or a. facility
of interstate commerce with the intent to promote, manage,
establish, or carry on.or facilitate thé promotion,
managment, establishment, or carrying on of unlawful
activity, specifically pavyment .and receipt of kickbacks in
violaticn of Califcrnia Business and Professions Code
Section 650, Califcrnia Insurance Code Section 750, and
California Labo: Code Section 3215;

Number two, after doing sc, defendant performed or
attempted to perform an act to promote, manage, establish, cor
carry on or facilitate the promotion, managment,
establishment, or carrying on of such unlawful activity.

Money laundering in violafion of Title 18 United
States Code Section 1957 has the following elements:

Number one, the defendant knowingly engaged or
attempted to engage in a monetary transaction.

Number two, defendant knew that the transaction
involved criminally derived property.

Number three, the property had a value greater'than
$10,000.

Number four, the property was, in fact, derived

from mail fraud.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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Number five, the transaction occurred in the
United States.

For defendant to be guilty of the crime charged in
Count é of the information, that is, payment of kickbacks in

connection with a federal health care program in violation of

| 42 USC Section 1320(a) (7) (b} subsection (b) (2){(A) the

following must be true:
Number cne, defendant knowingly and willfully paid

remuneration directly or indirectly in cash or in kind tc

‘another person.

Number two, the'remuneration was given to induce
that person to refer an individual for the furnishing or
arranginglfor the furnishing of any item or service for which
payment may be made in whole or in part under a federal
health care program.

And Number three, defendant knew that such payment
of remuneration was illegal.

THE COURT: Mr., Drobot, do you understand the
nature of the charges?

.THE DEFENDANT: Yesg, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you discussed the charges and the
elements of the charges with your lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions about the

charges?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE DEFENDANT: No, I don't, Your Honor.

THE COQURT: Have you been advised of the maximum
penalties?

THE DEFENDANT: fes; I have Your Honor.

TEE CCURT: Ms. Joseph, if you could please
describe the penalties, including any maximum fine, special
assessment, ot term supervised release.

MS. JOSEPHS: Yés,rYour Honor.

The statutcory maximum sentence that the Court can
impose for a violation of Title 18 United States Code
Secfion 371, ccnspiracy, is five years' imprisonment, a
three-year period of supervised release, a fine of $250,000
or twice the gross gailn or gross loss resulting from the
offense, whichever is greatest, and a mandatofy special
assessment of $100.

The statuteory maximum sentence that the Court can
impose for a violaticn of Title 42 United States United
States Code Section 1320(a) (7) (b} subsection (b} (2) (A) 1is
five years' impriscnment, a three-year period of supervised
release, a fine of $250,000 or twice the gross gain or gross
loss resulting from the offense, whichever is greatest, and a
mandatory special assessment of $100.

Therefore, the total maximum sentence for all‘
bffenées to which defendant is pleading guilty is ten years'

imprisonment, a three-year period of supervised release, a

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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fine of $500,000 or twice the gross gain or gross loss
resultiné from the offense, whichever is greatest, and a
méndatory special assessment of $200.

'THE COURT: Mr. Drobot, you may be subject to
supervised release for a number of years after release from
prison. |

Have you discussed with your lawyer and do you
understand the term supervised release?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand that if you are sent
to prison and then you are placed on supervised release
following imprisonment, and you viclate one or more of the
terms or cenditions cof supervised release, you may be
returned to prison fdr.all or part of the term of supervised
release?

THE DEFENDANT: I understand, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand that if that happens,
it could reéult in your serving a terﬁ of imprisonment that's
greater than the statutory maximum?

THE DEFENDANT: I understand, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understana that if you are not a
citizen of the United States, this plea may cause you to be
deported or removed from the United States, may result in &
denial of naturalization or.citizenship,la.denial of

residency status, and a denial of amnesty?
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Now, you are pleading to felony
6ffenses. If your plea is accepted, I will find you guilty.
That may deprive you of certain valuable civil rights, such -
as the right to vote, the right to hold public office, the
right to sefve on a jury, or the right to posseés a firearm
of any kind.

| Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand that the Court will
order you to pay restitution to any victim of the offense?

TﬁE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE‘COURT: And the amcunt of restitution is not
limited te the amounts alleged in the counts to which you are
pleading guilty, and will include losses that arise from
charges not prqsecuted, as well as all relevant conduct in
connection with those charges.

Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand that the Court may
order you to provide notice of conviction to -the victims of
the offenses?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I de, Your Honor.

THE COURT: D¢ you understand that the Court may

require you to forfeit certain property to the Government?

UNITED STATES -DISTRICT COQURT
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do,_Your Honor.

THE CCURT: MNow, having heard from the Court.and

- from the Assistant United States Attorney regarding the

maximum sentence you can receive and the other terms and
conditions that were just deécribed for you, do you-
understand the possible consequences to you of entering a
guilty plea?

HE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

VTHE COURT: Do you have any quéstiqns regarding the
potential sentence you may receive 1if the Court accepts your
plea of guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor .

'THE COURT: Have vyou discussed possible puhiéhment,
the facts of your case, and possible.defenses with your
lawyer?

| THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you understood everythiﬁg that's
been séid here in the procéedings so far?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, T have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Drobot, will_you be sentenced under
the Sentencing Reform Act of 1%84. The Unitéd States
Sentencing Commission has issued Guidelines that Courts must
consult and take into account but are not required to follow
in determining sentences in criminal cases.

Now, in determining your sentence, the Court is

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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required to calculate the applicable Sentencing Guidelines
range, then tec consider that range, along with possible
departures and other sentencing factors under the statute.

Now, ha&e you and your lawyer talked about how the
Sentencing Guidelines might be applied in your case?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honof.

THE COURT: Then you understand that the Guidelines
use a person's total offense level and their criminal history
category to calculate the applicable Guidelines range? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do ycu understand that regardless of
the Guidelines range for your case that is calcﬁlated, I.may
sentence you tc up to the maximum time allowed by law?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And do you understand that neither the
Cburt nor your lawyer will be able to determine the
Guidelines range for your case until after the presentenée
report has been prepared?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor,

THE CCURT: Do you understand that the sentenéé
imposed may be different from any estimate your lawyer has
given to you?

THE DEFENDANT : Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And even though there's an uncertainty

with that, and even though you may be disappointed over the

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COQURT
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Guidelines range that is calculated for your case, or you may
be disappointed over the Court's eﬁentual sentence, none of
that would be a basis for you to withdraw yoﬁr plea of
guilty.

Dd you understand?

TEE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Mr. Drobot, I have in front of me a
document titled, Plea Agreement for Defendant Michael D.
Drobot.

Do you have that agreement in front of you?

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And locking at that agreement at pages
31 and 32, above the line where your name is pfinted, is that
your signatufe on the agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

TEE COURT: Did you read the plea agreement
carefully and discuss i1t with your lawyer before you signed
it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do yvou understand Lhe terﬁs of this
agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Do you want any more time to discuss it
with your lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COQURT
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THE COURT: Do you understand that the Court is not
a party to this agreement and is not bound by its terms?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honcr.

THE CCURT: Are the terms of this written agreement
the entire understanding that you have with the Government?

'THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Has anyone made any promises,
representations, or guarantees of any kind other than those
contained in this written plea agreement to get to you plead
guilty? |

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Other than what is contained in the
written plea agreement and other than a general discussion of
the Sentehcing Guidelines and other sentencing considerations
and factors with yecur lawyer, has anyone made you any
promises of leniency, or a particular sentence or probation
or any other inducement of any kind to get to you plead
guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor,

THE COURT: Has anyone attempted in any way to
threaten ydu or.a family member or anyone close to you Eo get
yvou to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty voluntarily and

of vour cwn free will?

UNITED S5TATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, do you understand that by entering

‘into this plea agreement and entering a plea of guilty, you

will be giving up or limiting your right to appeal the
conviction and all or part of the sentence in this case?

THE DEFENDANT: I dc, .Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Joseph, if you can please read into
the record‘any,provision of the agreeﬁent that addresses a
waiver of an appeal right by the defendant.

M5. JOSEPHS: Yes, Your Honor.

At paragraphs 27 and 28, with tThe exception of an
appeal based on a claim that defendant's guilty pleas were
involuntary, by pleading guilty, defeﬁdant is waiving and
giving up any right to appeal his convictions on the offenses
to which he is pleading guilty.

In addition, provided the Court imposes a total
term of imprisonment on all counts of éonviction of noc more
than the low end of the Guidelines range corresponding to a

total offense level.cf 35 and defendant's criminal history

-category, defendant gives up the right to appeal all of the

following:

A, the procedures and calculations used to
determine and impose any portion of the sentence;

B, the term of imprisonment imposed by the Court

provided is within the statutory maximum;
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C, the fine imposed by the Court provided it is
within the statutory maximum;

D, the amount and terms of any restitution order
provided it is requires payment of no more than 520 million;

E, the term of probation or supeﬁvised release
imposed by the Court provided it is within the statutory

maximum;

And F, any of the following conditions of prokation

or supervised release imposed by the Court, the conditicns
set forth in General Orders 318, 01-05, and/or 05-02 of this
Court, the drug testing conditions mandated by 18 USC
sections 3563(a) (5) and 3583(d), and the alcohol and drug use
conditiéns authorized by 18 USC Section 3563(b) (7).

THE COURT: Mr.‘Drobot, did you discuss giving up
these rights with your lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did, Your Honor.

THE COURT: BRased on that discussion and having
considered the issue, do vyou agree you're giving up your

appeal rights on the terms and conditions just stated by the

Assistant U.S. Attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: I agree, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Becwers, the plea agreement
indicates that it was signed by you and your client on
February 20th; is that éorrect?

MR. BCWERS:; Yes, Your Honor.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: And did he sign the agréement in your
presence?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Had to think back to February 20th.

MR. BCWERS: Yes, Your Honor. Sérry.

THE COURT: Did you discuss the contents of the
adreement and explain the contents of the agreement to him
before he signed the agreement?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor, extensively.

THE COURT: Does this piea agreement represent the
entire agreemént‘between your client and the Government?

ME. BOWERS: It does, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you review the facts of the case

and all of the discovery provided by the Government with your

. client?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you pursue with him potential'_
defenses he might have t¢ the charges?

MR. BOWERS: Yeg, Your.Honor.

THE COURT: Did you advise him concerning the
legality or admissibility of any statements or confessions or
other evidence that the Government has.against him?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: To the best of your knowledge, is your

client pleading guilty because of any illegally obtained
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evidence in the pocssession of the Goﬁernment?

MR. BOWERS: Not to my knowledge, Your.Honor.

THE COURT: Did you and Mr. Drobot agree that it
was in his best interest to enter into this plea agreement?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And it 1s -- is it your opinion that
he's entering intc this agreement freely, veluntarily with
full knowledge of the charges and the conseguences of the
plea?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have tﬂefe been any promises,
repregsentations, or guarantees of any_kind made to either you
or your client other than those contained in the written.plea
agreement?

MR. BCWERS: ﬁo, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: And other than what is contained in the
written plea agreement and cther than a general discussion.of
the Sentencing Guidelines and other sentencing considerations
and factors, have ycu given any indication to your client of

what specific sentence the Court will impose in the event it

- accepts his plea of guilty?

MR. BOWERS: No, Your Honor. .
THE COURT: Do vou know of any reason why the Court
should not accept your client's plea?

MR. BOWERS: WNo, Your Honor.

UNTTED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: Do you join in the waivef of jury trial
and concur in-the plea?

MR. BOWERS: Yes, 1 do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Joseph, other than what is
expressly contained in the written plea agreement, has the
Government made any promises, representations, or guarantees
of any kind either to the defendant or his counsel?

MS. JOSEPHS: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Drobot, are you satisfied with the
representation that your lawyers have provided to you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you told them everything you know
about your case, all of the facts? |

THE DEFENDANT:. I believe so, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you believe that they've fully
advised you concerning this matter?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

IEE COURT: Do you believe that they've fully
considered any defense that you may have to the charges?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Youf Honor.

THE COURT: Have you had enough time to discuss
this matter with them? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have, Your Honor.

'HE COURT: Do you believe that you've understood

everything that's happened here in court today, everything
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said by me and by both counsel?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Yogr Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand the consequences to
you of entering this guilty plea?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Having in mind all we've discussed
regarding your plea of guilty, including the rights you will
be'giving up, the maximum sentence you may receive, and the
other terms and conditiocns, do you still want to plead
guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I would.

THE COURT: Then I'm going to ask you to listen
carefglly because.i'm gﬁing to ask the prosecutor to state
those facts that the Government would be prepared to prove if
this matter went te trial. Then T'm going to ask you some
questions about what she says.

Ms. Joseph.

M5. JOSEPHS: Thank you, Your Honor.

The government would prove as follows should it
proceed to trial:

Pacific Hospital of TLong Beach or Pacific Hospital
was a hospital located in Long Beach, California specializing
in surgeries, particularly spinal and orthopedic surgeries.
From at least in or arcund 1997 to October 2013, Pacifiq

Hospital was owned and/or operated by defendant.
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Beginning in or arcund 1998 and continuing in or
around November of 2013, defendant conspired with dozens of
doctors, chiropractcrs, marketers, and others to pay
kickbacks in return for those persons to refer thousands of
patients to Pacific Hospital for spinal surgeries and other
medical services paid for primarily through the Féderal
Employees' Compensation Act or FECA, and California Workers'
Compensation System or CWCS. To help generate the moneys for
the kickback payments, defendant used a co-schemer's company
or his bwn company, International Implants} of I2, located in
Newport Beach, California to frauduléntly inflate the price
of medical hardware purchased by Pacific Hospital to be used
in the spinal surgeries. Defendant knew that under
California law, medical hardware was considéred a
pass-through cost that could be billed at no more than $250
over what Pacific Hespital paid for the hardware. TIn paying
the kickbaéks, inflating the medical hardware costs, and
sﬁbmitting the resulting c¢laims for spinal surgeries and
mediéal services, defendant and his co-conspirators acted
with the intent to defraud workers' compensation insurance
carriers and to deprive the patients of their right of honest
services. |

Pefendant also provided a stfeam of financial
benefits to California State Senator Ronald S. Calderon, or

Senator Calderon, in order to influence him to support and in

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT




©02:34PM

02:34PM

02 :34FM

02:34PM

02:35PM

Case 8:14-¢cr-00034-JLS Document 42 Filed 10/27/15 Page 31 of 45 Page ID #:190

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

21

22

23

24

31

exchange for supporting defendant's positions on legislation
and regulations that would enhance defendant's ability to
commit and expand his health caré'fraud scheme. In
particular, legislation concerning hospitals' ability to pass
through to workers' compensation insurance carriers the.cost
of medical hardware used in spinal surgeries.

Thé hospital kickback scheme operated as follows:
Defendant and other co-conspirators offered to pay kickbacks
to doctors, chiropractors, marketers, and others, the |
kickback recipients, in return for their referring workers'
comﬁensation payments patients to Pa¢ific Hospital for spinal
surgeries, other types of surgeries, magnetic rescnance
imaging, toxicology, durable medical equipment, and other
services to be paid through FECA and the CWCS. For spinal
surgeries; typically defendant offered to pay a kickback of
315,000 per lﬁmbar fusion surgery and $10,000 per cervical
fusion surgery provided that the surgeon used’in the surgery
hardware supplied by a specified distributor. Beginning in
approximately 2008, defendant's company I2.typically was a

specified distributor. If the surgeon did not use I2's

hardware in the surgery, tThe kickbacks offered were smaller.

Influenced by the promise of kickbacks, the
kickback recipients referred patients insured through the
CWCS and the FECA to Pacific Hospital for spinal surgeries,

other types of surgeries, and other medical services. In
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some cases, the patients lived dozens or hundreds of miles
from Bacific Hospital and closer to other qualified medical
facilities. The workers' compensation patients were not
informed that the medical professionals had been offere&
kickbacks to induce ﬁhem to refer the sﬁrgeries to Pacific
Hospital. |

Pursuant to the kickback agreements, the kickback
recipients referred patients to Pacific Hospital. In the
case of spinal surgeries, as parts of the kickback
agreements, surgecns often used a specified distributor,
including 12. Typically, for surgeries covered by the CWCS,
the price IZ or the co-conspirator distributor charged for
the hardware was inflated by a multiple of the price at which
I2 or the other:distributor had purchased the device from the
manufacturer.

Pacific Hospital submitted claims by mail and
electronically to workeré‘ compensation insurance carriers
for payment of the cocst of the surgeries and other medical
services. For a spinal surgery, Pacific Hospital typically
submitted a claim for the hespital services and the medical
hardware used in the surgery. ¥or surgeries covered by he
CWCS, Pacific Hospital submitted the iﬁflated invoice for the

hardware from I2 or other specified distributors who were

‘co-conspirators, plus an additional $250. That is the

purported pass-through cost submitted in the claims for
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medical hardware was thousands of dollars and sometimes tens
of thousands of dollars higher than the what the manufacturer
actually charged and what I2 or the other co-conspirator
distributor actually paid for the hardware.

As defendant and his co-conspirators knew, federal
and California léw prohibhited péying or receiving the
aforementioned kickbacks for the referral of patients for
medical services. Defendant and his cqmconspirators also
knew that the insurance carriers would be unwilling tb pay
claims for medical services that were obtained through such
illegal kickbacks. Moreover, defendant and his
co-conspirators knew that the insurance carriers would be
unwilling to play claims for spinal surgery hardware that
were artificialiy inflated and substantially above the
manufacturer's price. However, defendant and his
co—conspirators deliberately did not disclose to the
insurance cariiers the kickbacks, the inflation of the
medical hardware, or the fact that I2 was owned and
controlled by defendant, and was not a manufacturer of such
hardware. Rather at some point, defendant and his
co-conspirators included on I2's invoices stamps falsely
stating that I2 was an FDA registered manufacturer.

Further, te conceal the illegal kickback payments
from the workers' compehsation insurance carriers and

patients, defendant and his co-conspirators entered into
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bogus contracts under which the kickback recipients purported
to provide services to defendant's companies to justify the
kickback paymentsf The services and other items of wvalue
discﬁssed in those contracts were, in fact, genefally nct
provided to Pacifid Hospital or were provided at highly'
inflated'prices. The compensatidn to the kickback recipients
was actually based cn the number and type of surgeries they
referred to the hospital. These contracts included, among
others, the fcllowing: Collection agreements, option
agreements,.research and development agreements, lease and
rental agreements,rconsulting agreements, marketing
agreeménts, and managment'agreements.

Defendant and his co-conspirators kept records of
the numberréf sufgeries and other medical services performed
at Pacific Hospital due to the referrals from the kickback
recipients, as well as amounts paid to the kickback
recipients for those referrals. Periodicaliy, defendant and
others émended the kogus contracts with the kickback
recipients to increase or decfease the amount of agreed
compensation described in the contracts in order to match the
amount of kickbaéks'paid or promised in return for referrals.

From in or around 2008 to in or around April 2013,

Pacific Hospltal billed workers' compensation insurance

carriers approximately $500 million in claims for several

thousand spinal surgeries that were the result of the payment
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of kickbacks. Defendant and other co-conspirators paid

“ kickback recipients between approximately $20 million and $50

million in kickbacks relating to those claims.

To preserve his ability to pass on the inflated
spinal surgery hardware cost to the insurance carriers, and
thus, to help to pay the kickbacks, defendant provided a
stream of financial benefits to Senator Calderon in'order to
induce the Senator to oppose legislation an& regulation that
would have eliminated the pass~throﬁgh rule, as well as to
support legislation that would have supported defendant's
health care fraud scheme. For example, at Senator Calderon's
request, defendant agreed tc pay Senator Calderon's son
$10,0d0 per summer, take-home or net, o work as a summer
file clerk for defendant's company in 2010, 2011, and 2012.

Defendant would not have ordinarily done this but
did so here in crder to ensure that Senator Calderon would

take positioﬂs on spinal surgery and pass—through legislation

favorable to defendant. 1In 2010, at Senator Calderon's

request; defendant caused his company to pay Senator
Calderon's son $10,000'upfront to be a summer file clerk. 1In
2011, again, at Senator Calderon's request, defendant caused
his company to pay Senator Calderon's son $10,000 to be a
summer file clerk., 1In 2012, defendant made Senator
Calderon's son a W-2 employee, which caused taxes to be

withheld from his paycheck. When Senator Calderon informed

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT



02:40PM

02:41PM

02:41pPM

02:41PM

0Z:41PM

Case 8:14-cr-00034-JLS Document 42 Filed 10/27/15_ Page 36 of 45 Page ID #:195

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21,

22

23

24

25

36

defendant that his son needed to net $10,000 in the summer,
defendant caused his company, despite that it was in
financial difficdlty and laying off workers, to pay Senator
Calderon's son an increased amount of up to near $18,000 so
that Senatqr Calderon's son would net 510,000 for the éummer
of 2012. Defendant ensured that his company made these ~
payments to Senator Calderon's son each summer regardless of
how few days Senator Caldercn's son actually worked.

In additicn, on several occcasions and_while Senator
Calderon was supporting legislative positions favorable to
defendant, defendant took Senator Calderon fo exclusive
high-end golf rescrts. Defendant paid for these golf cutings
in order to ensure Senatcr Calderon's continued legislative
support. Additionally, defendant tobk Senator Calderon out
to expensive dinners and providéd him with free flights on‘a
private plain. All of these financial benefits were
intending to ensure that Senator Calderon would take
legislative.positions favorable to defendant.and Pacific
Hospital, which would allow defendant to continue to commit
and expand his health care fraud scheme. 1In response to
these financial benefits from. defendant, Senator Calderon,
among cher things, arranged meetings for defendant with
other senators to discuss defendant's legislative agenda and
advocated positions on législation that would financially

benefit defendant at Pacific Heospital.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COQURT



02+42PM

02:42PM

02:42PM

02:43PM

02 :43PM

Case 8:14-cr-00034-JLS Document 42 Filed 10/27/15 Page 37 of 45 Page ID #:196

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
21
22

23

.24

25

37

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish
the obhjects of tﬁé conspiracy, defendant and other
co-consplrators committgd various overt acts within the
Central District of California, including but not limited to
the following:

Overt Act Number One, on or about November 10,
2009, defendant caused a check in the amount of $43,650 from
SCIF to be sent by mail to Pacific Hospital in reimbursement
for a glaim for spine surgery on patient JM performed by
Dr. CD which claim was induced by payment of .a kickback to
JC.

Overt Act Number Two, in or aroundrFebruaiy 2010,
defendant met with Senator Calderon in Sacramento, California
and agreed tc hire Senator Calderon's son each summer for the
next several summers and tc pay him $10,000 per summer so
that Senator Calderon would have enough money to pay for his
son's college tuition.

Overt Act Number Th;ee, on or about April 3, 2010,
defendént caused a check in the amount of $90,467.80 from
SCIF to be sent by mail tec Pacific Hospital in reimbursement
for a claim for spine surgery on patient LT performed by the
Dr. MC, which claim was induced by the payment of a kickback
to PS.

Overt Act Number Four,-in or around April 2010,

defendant had Senator Calderon meet with a director at the
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Division of Workers' Compensation and discuss £he negative
impact that proposed regulations would have on Pacific |
Hospital and other hospitals.

Cvert Act Number Five, on or about July 13th, 2010,
défendant caused Senator Calderon's son te be paid $10,000 in
advance of clerical work Senator Calderon's son was to
perform at one of defendant's companieé.

Overt Act Number Six, in or around February 2011,
defendant had Senator Célderon meet with Senator A and
reqﬁest that Senator A introduce legislation in the
California Senate that would ‘be favorable to defendant.

Cvert Act Number-Seveh; on orlabout March 31, 2011,
defendant caused a check in the amount of $23,531.23 frém

Vanliner to be sent by mail to Pacific Hospital in

‘reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on patient RS

performed by Dr. SC, which claim was induced by the paymentr
of a kickback to SO.

Overt Act Number Eight; on or about July.ll, 2011,
defendant caused Senator Calderon's son to be paid-$5,000 for
clerical work Senator Calderon's son héd performed at one of
defendant's companies.

Overt Act Number Nine, on or about August 16, 2011,
defendantHCaused Senator Caideron's son to be paid $5,000 for
clerical work Senator Calderon's son had performed at oﬁe of

defendant's companies.
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Overt Act Number 10, on or about June 12, 2012;
defendant had Senator Calderon arrange and participate in a
meeting with Senator B where Senatér Calderon and defendant
discussed the negative impact Senator B's proposed
legislation weould have on Pacific Hospital and other
hospitals.

| Overt Act Number 11, on or about June 29, 2012,

defendant caused a kickback in the amount of $100,000 t& be
paid to S0 for.the referral of lumbar and cervical spine
surgeries performed at Pacific Hospital, including on
patients covered by the FECA.

Overt Act Number 12, on or about August lsf, 2012,
defendant authorized Ssnator Calderon's son to a gross salary

of $18,510.80 for clerical work Senator Calderon's son was

performing at one of defendant's companies in order to

guarantes that Senator Calderon's son take~home or net_saléry
totaled approximately 810,000 for the summer of 2012.

Overt Act Number 13, on or about January 18, 2013,
defendant éaused a check in the amount of $51,115.44_froﬁ
Trageiers'lnsurance to be sent by mail to Pacific Hospital in
reimbursemant for a ciaim for spine surgery on pétient-FC
performed by Dr. TR, which claim was induced by the payment
of a kickback teo TR.

Overt Act Number 14, on or about January 24, 2013,

defendant caused a check in the amount of $117,142.36 from .
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Vanliner to be sent by mail to Pacific Hospital in
reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on patient SF
performed by Dr. GA, which claim was induced by the payﬁent
of a kickback toc GA.

'O?ert Act Number 15, on or about April 24, 2013,
defendant caused a check to in the amount of $24,209.90 from
ICW to be sent by mail to Pacific Hospital in reimbursement
for a ciaim for spine surgery on patient FA performed by
Dr. LT, which claim was induced by the payment of a kickback
to ILT.

Overt‘Act Number 16, on or about November 27, 2013,
defendant caused a check in the amount of $50,903.7E from
Travelers Insurance to be sent by mail to Pacific Héspital in
reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on patient Tﬁ
pérformed by Dr. LT, which claim resulted from the payment of
a kickback to AT.

THE CCURT: Do you understand what the proéecutor
just said?

THE DEFENDANT ; Yeé, I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, it was Quite lengthy, but it was
all contained in your plea agreement; corfect?

THE DEFENDANT: Thet's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:V And ycu have had an opportunity before
today to review that extensively with your lawyer; correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have, Your Honor.

‘UNITED STATES DISTRICT CQURT
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THE CCURT: Is everything that the-prosecutoi said
about you just now, including what she said about your
conduct, yecur intent, and your knowledge true and correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeg; it is, Your Honor.

‘THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty because you did
the things charged in the information to which are vyou
pleading guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am.

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty because ydu
are,:in fact, guilty?

| THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is the Government éatisfied with the’
factual basis?

MS. JOSEPHS: It is, Your Honor. Thank you.

THE COURT: Do both counsel agree that the Court
has complied with the all of the requirements of Rule 117

MS. JOSEPHS: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE CCOURT: Mr. Drobot, I'm about to take your
guilty plea. Before I do that, do you have any questioﬁs

about anything we've addressed or anything you believe we've

not addressed?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Mr. Bowers, 1is there any reason why the

Court cannot accept Mr. Drobot's plea at this time?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT CQURT
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MR. BCWERS: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Drcbot, in Case Number
SACR14~00034-JLS, to the charge in Count 1 of the information
that you engaged in a conspiracy in violation of Title 18
United States Code Secticn 371, a felony, how do you plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty, Your Honor. |

THE COQURT: To the charge in-Count 2 of the
information that you paid kickbacks in connection with a
federal health care program in violation of Title 42 United
States Code Section -1320(a) (7) (b} subsection (b) (2) (A), a
felony, how do you plead?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty, Your Honor.

TEE COURT: Mr. Drobot, T'm going to make certain
findings now. If you don't understand what I say or you
disagree with what I'say or 1f you simply want to speak with
your attorney, please Interrupt me right away or ask your
attorney tc interrupt me.

Will vou do that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yesg, I will, Your Honor.

THE COURT: 1In the case of the United States of
América vs. Michael D. Drobot? the Court having guestioned
the defendant and his counsel on the offer of his plea of
guilty to the twe counts of the information, felonies, the
defendant and his counsel having advised the Court that they

have conferred concerning the offered plea of guilty and all

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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aspects of the charges against the defendant and any defenses
that he might héve, and the Court having observed the
intelligence, demeanor, and attitude of the defendant while .
answering questions, and the Court having observed that the
defendant dces not appear to be under the influence of any
drug, medication, or other substance or factor that might
affect his judgment or actions in any manner, the Court finds
that the defendant is fully competeﬁt and capable of entering
an informed plea, and that the defendant is aware of the
nature of the charges and the consedguences of.the plea.

The Court further finds that the plea of guilty is
knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made with a full
understanding of the nature of the charges, the consequences
of the plea, and the deféndant's constitutional rights.

The Ccurt further finds that the plea is supported
by an independent factual basis containing each of the
essential elements of the offenses. The Court, therefore,
accepts the plea and crders that the plea be entered.

A written presentence reporf will be prepared by
the probation office. You will be asked to provide

information for that report. Your attorney may be present if

you wish. 'Beth of you will have an opportunity to review the

report after it's been prepared and your attorneys may file
objections on your behalf before the sentencing hearing.

Both of you will be able tc be to heard on your behalf at

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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your sentencing hearing. All sentencing position papers are
due to be filed with the Court no latér than two weeks before
the date set for sentencing.

That includes service on an assigned probation
officer, and 1f T could ask the clerk to please provide'an
availlable date for sentencing..

THElCLERK: December 12th, 2014, at 10:30 a.m.

THE COURT: Is that date and time acceptable to
both sides?

MS. JOSEPHS: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. BOWERS: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: 'And.does éither side wish to be heard |
regarding the defendant's release status pending sentencing?

M3. JOSEPHS: No, Your Honor. The Government will
stipulate to the same cbnditions.

THE COURT: BRBased on the Government's agreement,
the nature cf the charges, the fact that the defendant has
made his appearances, the Court'findsrthat‘he.is neither a
danger tc the community or a flight risk, and so the Court
finds it appropriate to allow the defendant to remain
released on the same terms and conditions  that are presently
in effect.

Mr. Drobbt, you are ordered to appear in thié
courtroom on December 12th, 2014 at 10:30 a.m. without any

further notice or order from the Court.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeé, Your Honbr.

THE CCURT: And all dates other tﬁan the sentencing
daté are vacated.

Is there anything else that is needed from the
Court at this time?

MS; JOSEPHS: No, Your Honor.

MR. BOWERS: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

(Proceedings concluded at 2:55 p.m.)

CERTIFICATE |

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING TS A TRUE AND CORRECT
TRANSCRIPT OF THE STENCGRAPHICALLY RECORDED PROCEEDINGS IN
THE ABOVE MATTER.
FEES CHARGED FOR THLS TRANSCRIPT, LESS ANY CIRCUIT FEE
REDUCTICN AND/OR DEPOSIT, ARE IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE

REGULATIONS OF THE JUDICIAL CONFERENCE OF THE UNTTED STATES.

/s/ Miriam V. Baird - 10/27/2015

MIRIAM V. BAIRD DATE
OFFICIAL REPORTER
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1. This constitutes the plea agreement between MICHAEL D.

DROBOT (“defendant”) and the United States Attorney’s Office for the

cagse, This agreement is limited to the USAO and cannot bind any

administrative, or regulatory authorities.

(*the USAO") in the above-captioned

foreign prosecuting, enforcement,
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DEFENDANT'S OBLIGATIONS

2. Defendant agrees to:

a) Give up the right to indictment by a grand jury andg,
at the earliest opportunity requested by the USAC and provided by
the Court, appear and plead gﬁilty to a two-count criminal
Information in the form attached to this agreement as Exhibit A or a
substantially similar form, which charges defendant with Conspiracy
in violation of 18 U.8.C. § 371, and Payment of Kickbacks in |
Connection with a Federal Health Care Program in violation of 42
U.8.C. § 1320a-7b{b) (2) (A):

- b) Not contest facts agreed to in this agreement.

c) Abide by all agreements regarding sentencing

contained in this agreement.

| d) Appear for all court appearances, surrender as
ordered for service of sentence, obey all conditions of any bond,
and obey any othéf ongoing court order in thig matter.

e) Not cohmit any crime; however, offenses that would be
excluded for sentencing purposes under United States Sentencing
Guidelines (“U.S8.5.G.” or'“Sentencing Guidelines”) § 4Al.2(c) are
not within therscoﬁe of this agreement.

£) Be truthful at all times with Pretrial Services, the
United States Probation 0Office, and the Court.

| g) Pay the applicable special assessments at or before
the tiﬁe of sentencing unless defendant lacks the ability to pay and

prior to sentencing submits a completed financial statement on a

form to be provided by the USAO.

3. Defendant further agrees:
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a) Truthfully to disclose to law enforcement officials,
at a date and time to be set by the USAO, the location of,
defendant’'s ownership interest in, and all other information known
to defendant about, all moniés, properties, and/or assets of any
kind, derived from or acquired as a result of, or used to facilitaﬁe
the commission 6f, defendant’'s illegal activities, and to forfeit
all right, title, and interest in and to such items.

b) To the Court’s entry of an order of forfeiture-at or
before sentencing with respect to these éssets and to the forfeiture
of the assets.

c) To take whatever.steps are necessary to pass tb the
United States clear title to the assets described above, including,
without limitation, the execution of a consent decree of forfeiture
and the completing of any other legal documents required for the
transfer of title to the United States.

d) Not to contest any administrative forfeiture
proceedings or civil judicial proceedings commenced by the United
States of America against these properties.

| e) Not to assist any othef individual in any effort
falsely to contest the forfeiture of the assets described above.

£) Not to c¢laim that reasonable cause to seize the
assets was lacking.

g) To prevent the transfer, sale, destruction, or loss
of any and all assets described above to the extent defendant has
the ability to do so.

h)  To £ill out and deliver to the USAO a completed
financial statement listing defendant’s assets on a form provided by

the USAOD.
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4. - Defendant further agrees to cooperate fully with the USAO,
the Federa; Bureau of Investigation, the United States Postal
Service - Office of Inspector General, the Internal Revenue Sérvice,
and, as directed by the USAO, any other federal, state, local, or
foreign prosecuting, enforcement, administrative, or reguiatory |
authority. This cooperation requires defendant to:

a) Respond truthfully and completely to all questions

that may be put to defendant, whether in interviews, before a grand

jury, or at any trial or other court proceeding;

b) Attend all meetings, grand jury sesSioné, trials or
other proceedings at which défendant's presence is requested by the
USAO or compelled by‘subpoena or court order.

c) Producé voluntarily all documents, records, or other

tangible evidence relating to matters about which the USAO, or its

designee, inguires.

5. For purposes of this agreement: (1) *Cooperation
Information” shall mean any statements made, or documents, records,
tangiblerevidence; or other information‘provided, by defendant
pursuant to defendant’s cooperation under this agreement; and
(2) ”"Plea Information” shall mean any statements made by defeqdant,
under oath, at the gquilty plea hearing and the agreed to factual
basis statement in this agreement.

THE USAQ'S OBLIGATIONS

6, The USAQO agrees to:
a)l Not contest facts agreed teo in this agreement.
b) Abide by all agreements regarding sentencing

contained in this agreement.
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c) At the time of sentencing, provided that defendant
‘demonstrateé an acceptance of responsibility for the offense up to
and including the time of sentencing, recommend a two-level
reduction in the applicable Sentencing Guidelines offense level,
pursuant to U.5.5.G. § 3EL.1, and recommend and, if necessary, move
for an additional one-level reduction if available under that
section,

' d) Recommend that defendant be sentenced to a term of

| imprisonment no higher than the low end of the applicable Sentencing

Guidelines range, provided that the offense level used by the Court

to determine that range is 35 and provided that the Court does not

depart downward in criminal history category. For purposes of this

agreement, the low end of the Sentencing Guidelines range is that
defined by the Sentencing Table in U.S.S5.G. Chapter 5, Part A ,
without regard to reductions in the term of imprisonment that may be
permissible through the substitution of community confinement or
home detention as a result of the offense level falling within Zone
B or Zone C of the Senténcing Table,

e) Except for criminal tax violations (including
conspiracy to commit such violations chargeable undér 18 U.8.C.
§ 371), not further driminally prosecute defendant for violations
arising out of defendant’s conduct described'in_the agreed-to
factual basis set forth in paragraph 21 below. Defendant
understands that the USAC is free to criminally prosecute defendant
for any other unlawful past conduct or any unlawfﬁl conduct that |
occurs after the date of this agreement. Deféndant agfees that at
the time Of sentencing the Court may consider the uncharged conduct

in determining the applicable Sentencing Guidelines range, the

5
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propriety and extent of any departure from that range, and the

sentence to be imposed after consideration of the Sentencing

Guidelines and all other relevant factors under 18 U.S8.C. § 3553(a).‘
7. The USAO further agrees:

a) Not to offer as evidence in its case-in-chief in the
above-captioned case or any other criminal prosecution that may be
brought against defendant by the USAO, or in connection with any
sentencing proceeding in any criminal_case that may be brought
against defendant by the USAO, any Cooperation Information.
Defendant agrees, however, that tﬁe USAO may use both Cooperation
Information and Plea Informatioﬁ: (1) to obtain and purgue leads to
other evidence, which evidence may be used for any purpose,
including any criminal prosecution of defendant; (2) to cross-
examine defendant should defendant testify; or to rebut any evidence
offered, or argument 6r.rapresentation made, by defendant,
defendant’é'counsel, or a witness called by defendant in any trial,
sentencing hearing, or other court proceeding; and (3) in any
criminal prosecution of defendant for false statemeﬁt, obstruction
of justice, or perjury.

b) Not to use.Cooperation Infofmation against defendant
at éentencing for the purpose of determining the applicable
guideline range, including the appropriateness of an upward
departure, or the sentence to be imposed, and to recommend to the
Court that Cooperation Information not be used in determining the
applicable guideline range or the sentence to be imposed. Defendant
understands, however, that Cooperation Information will be disclosed

to the probation office and the Ccurt, and that the Court may use
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Cooperation Information for the purposes set forth in U.S8.S8.G
§ 1B1.8(b) and for determining the sentence to be imposed.

<) In connection with defendant’s sentencing, to bring
to the Court’s attention the nature and extent of defendant’s |
cooperation. |

d) If the USAOC determines, in its exclusgive judgment,
that defendant has both complied with defendant’s obligations under
paragraphs 2 thfough 4 above and provided substantial assistance to
law enfofcement in the prosecution or investigatioﬁ of another
(“substantial assistance”)}), to move the Court pursuant to U.STS.G.
§ 5K1.1, to fix an offense level and correspohding guideline range
below that otherwise dictated by the senténcing guidelineg, and to
recommend a term of imprisconment within this reduced range;

DEFENDANT 'S UNDERSTANDINGS REGARDING COOPERATION

8. Defendant understands the following:

a) Any knowingly false or misleading statement by
defendant will subject defendant to prosecution for false statement,
obstruction of justice, and perjury and will constitute a breach by
defendant of this agreement.

b} . Nothing in this agreement requires the USAO or any
other prosecuting, enforcement, administfative, or regulatory
authority to accept any cooperation or assistance that defendant may
offer, or to use it in any particular way.

c) Defendant cannot withdraw defendant’s guilty plea if
the USAO does not make a motion pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5K1.1 for a
reduced guideline range or if the USAO makes such a motion and the
Court does not grant it or if the Court grants such a USAO motion

but elects to sentence above the reduced range.

7
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d) At this time the’USAO makes no agreement or
representation as to whether'any cooperation that defendant has
provided or intends to provide constituteé or will constitute
substantial assistance. The decision whether defendant has provided
substantial'assistancé will rest sblely within the exclusive
judgment of the USAO.

e) The USAC’s determination whether defendant has
provided substantial assistance will not depend in any way on
whether the government prevails at any trial or court hearing in
which defendant testifies or in which the government otherwise
presents information resulting from defendént’s cooperation.

NATURE OF THE OFFENSE

9. Deferidant understands that for defendant to be guilty of
the crime charged in count one of the Information, that is,
Conspiracy, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
371, the following must be true: (1) Beginning in or around 19598
and continuing through in or around November 2013, there was an
agreement between two or more persons to commit a violation of Title
18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1346 (Mail Fraud and
Honest Serxrvices Mail Fraud); Title 18, United States Code, Section
1952 (a) (3) (Interstate Travel in Aid of a Racketeering Enterprise) ;
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957 (Monetary Transactions in
Property Derived frbm Specified Unlawful Activity); and Title 42,
United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b) (2} (A) (Payment or Receipt of
Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal Health Care Pfogram); (2}
defendant became a member of the conspiracy knowing of at least one

of its objects and intending to help accomplish it; and (3) one of
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the members of the conspiracy performed at least one overt act for
the purpose of carrying out the conspiracy.

10. Defendant understands that Mail Fraud, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, has the following
elements: (1) the defendant knowingly devised or participated in a
scheme or plan to defraud, or a scheme or plén for obtaining money
or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations or promisges; (2) the statements made or factg
omitted as part of the scheme were material, that is, they had a
natural teﬁdency to influence, or were capable of influencing{ a
person to part with money or property; (3) the defendant acted with
the intent to defraud; and (4) the defendant used, or caused to be
used, the mails to carry out or attempt to carry out an essential
part of the scheme. Defendant furﬁher understands that Honest
Services Mail Fraud, in violation of Titie 18, United States Code,
Section 1346, has the following elements: (1) the defendant devised
or participated in a scheme or plan to deprive a patient of his ox
her right to honest services; (2) the scheme or plan consisted of a

bribe or kickback in exchange for medical services; (3) a medical

professional perscon owed a fiduciary duty to the patient; (4) the

defendant acted with the intent to defraud by depriving the patient
of his or her right of honest Services; (5) the defendant’s act was
material, that is, it had a natural tendency teo influence, or was
capable of influencing, a person’s acts; and (6) the defendant used,
or caused someone to use, the mails to carry out or attempt to carry
out the scheme or plan.

11. .Defendant understands that Interstate Travel in Aid of a

Racketeering Enterprise, in violation of Title 18, United States

9
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Code, Section 1952{a} (3), has the following elements: (1) defendant
used the mail or a facility of interstate commerce with the intent:
to promote,_manage,.establish, or carry on, or facilitate the
promotion, management, establishment, or carrying on, of unlawful
activity, specifically payment and receipt of kickbacks in violation
of California Business & Profesgsions Code § 650, California
Insurance Code § 750, and California Labor Code § 3215; and (2)
after doing so, defendant performed or attempted to perform an act
to promote, manage, establish, or carry on, or facilitate the
promotion, management, establishment, or carrying on, of such
unlawful activity.

12, Defendant understands that Money Laundering, in violation
of Title 18, United Sﬁates Code,.Section 1957, has the following
elements: (1} the defendant knowingly engaged or attempted to
engage in a monetary transaction; (2} the defendant knew the
transaction involved cfiminally derived property; (3) the proéerty
had a value greater than $10,000; (4) the property was, in faét,
derived Erom mail fraud; and (5)'the transaction occurred in the
United States. | |

13. Defendant further understands that for defendant to be
guilty of the arime charged in count two of the information, that
is, Payment of Kickbacks in Conneétion with a Federal Health Care
Program, in violation of 42 U.8.C. § 1320a-7b{b)(2)(n), the |
following must-be true: (1) defendant knowingly and wilfuily paid
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or iﬁ kind, to another
person; (2) the remuneration was given to induce that person to
refer an individual for the furnishing or arranging for the

furnishing of any item or service for which payment may be made in

10




190

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

whole or in part under a Federal health care program; and (3)
defendant knew that such payment of remuneration was illegal.

PENALTIES AND RESTITUTION

14. Defendant understands that the statutory maximum sentence

that the Court can impose for a violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 371, is: 5 Years imprisonment; a 3-year period of

supervised release; a fine of $250,000 or twice the gross gain or
gross loss resulting'from the offense, whichever is greatest; and a

mandatory special assegsment of $100.

15. Defendant understands that the statutory maximum sentence

' that the Court can impose for a viclation of Title 42, Unitedetates‘

Code, Section 1320a-7b(b} (2)(A), is: 5 years imprisonment; a 3-year
period of Super&ised releage; a fine of $250,000 or twice the gross
gain or gross loss resﬁlting from the offense, whicheyer ig
greatest; and a mandatory special assesément of $100.

716. Defendant therefore understands that_the total maximum
sentence for all offenses to which defendant is pleading guilﬁy isg:
10 years imprisonment; a three-year period of supervised release; a
fine of $500,000 or twice the gross gain or gross loss resulting

from the offense, whichever is greatest; and a mandatory special

-assessment of $200.

17. Défendant understands that supervised release is a period
of time following imprisonmént during which defendant will bev
subject to various restrictions and reguirements. Defendant
understands that if defendant violates one or more of the conditions
of any supervised release imposed, defendant may be returned to
prison for all oxr part of the term of supervised release authorizéd

by statute for the offenses that resulted in the term of supervised

11
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| release, which could result in defendant serving a total term of

imprisonment greater than the statutory maximum stated above.

18. Defendant understands that, by pleading guilty, defendant
may be giving up valuable government benefits and valuable civic
rights, such as the right to vote, the right to possess a firearm,
the right to hold office, and the right to serve on a jury.
Defendant understands that once the court accepts defendant’s guilty
pleas, it will be a federal felony for defendant to possess a
firearm or ammunition. Defendant understands that the convictions
in this case may also subject defendant to various other collateral
consequences, including but not limited to revocation of probation,
parole, or supervised release in another case and suspension or
revocation of a professional licenge. Defendant understands that
unanticipated collateral consequences will not gerve as grounds to
withdraw defendant’s guilty pleas. .

19. Defendant understands that, if defendant is not a United
States citizen, the felony convictions in this case may subject
defendant to: removal, also known as deportation, which may, under
gome circumstances, be mandatory; denial of citizenship; and denial
of admission to the United States in the future. The court cannot,
and defendant'’s attorney also may not be able to, advise defendant
fully regarding the immigration cbnsequences of the felony
convictions in this case. Defendant understands that unexpected
immigration consequences will not sexve as grounds to withdraw
defendant’s guilty pleas.

20, Defendant understands that deféndant will be required to
pay full restitution to the victims'of the offenses to which

defendant is pleading guilty. Defendant agrees that, in feturn for

12
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the USAO’s compliance with its obligations under this agreement, the
Court may order restitution to persons other than the victims of the
offenses to which defendant is pleading guilty and in amounts
greater than those alleged in the counts to which defendant is
pleading guilty. In particular, defendant agrees that the Court may
order restitution to any victim of any of the following for aﬁy
losses suffered by that victim as a result: (a}) any relevant
conduct, as defined in U.S.8.G. § iBl.B,_in connection with the
offenses to which deéfendant is pieading guilty; and (b} any charges

not prosecuted pursuant to this agreement as well as all relevant

conduct, as defined in U.8.3.G. § 1B1.3, in connection with those

counts and charges. The parties have not come to an agreement on

the amount of resgtitution.

FACTUAL BASIS

21. .Defendant admits that defendant ig, in fact, guilty of the
offenses to which defendant is agreeing to plead guilty. Defendant
and the USAO agree to the statement of facts provided below and
agree that this statement of facts is sufficient to support pleas of
guilty_to the charges described in this agreement and to establish
the Sentencing_Guidelihes factors set forth in paragraph 23 below
but is not meant to be a complete recitation of all facts relevant
to the underlying criminal conduct or all facts known to either
party that relate to that conduct.

Pacific Hospital of Long Beach (“Pacific Hospital”) was a
hospital located in Long Beach, California, specializing in
gurgeries, particularly spinal and orthopedic surgeries. From at
least in or around 1997 to October 2013, Pacific Hospital was owned

and/or operated by defendant.

13
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Beginning in or around 19388 and continuing through in or around
November 2013, defendant conspiréd with dozens of doctors,
chiropractors, mafketers, and others to pay kickbacks in return for
those persons to refer thousands of patients to Pacific Hospital for
spinal surgeries and other medical services paid for primarily
through the Féderal Employees’' Compensation Act (“FECA”} and the
California Workers’ Compensation System (“CWCS”). To help generate .
the monies for the kickback payments, defendant used a co-schemers

company or his own company International Implants (“12”), located in

Newport Beach, California, to fraudulently inflate the price of

medical hardware purchased by Pacific Hospital to be used in the
gpinal surgeries; defendant knew that, under California law, medical
hardware WQS considered a “pass—thrbugh” cost that could be billed
at no more than $250 over what Pacific¢ Hospital paid for the
hardware. In paying the kickbacks, inflating the medical hardware
costs, and submitting the resulting claims for spinal surgeries and
medical services, defendant and hig co-conspirators acted with the
intent to defraud workers’ compensation insurance carriers and to
deprive the patients of their right of honest services.

Defendant also provided a stream of financial benefits to
California State Senator Ronald 8, Calderon (“S8enator Calderon”) in
order to influence him to support, and in exchange for supporting,
defendant’s positions on legislation and regulations that would
enhance defendant’s ability to commit and'expand his health care
fraud scheme -- in particular, legislation concerning hospitals'
ability to “pass through” to workers’ compensation insurance

carriers the cost of medical hardware used in spinal surgeries.

14
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The hogpital kickback scheme cperated as follows: defendant
and other co-conspirators offered to pay kickbacks to doctors,
chiropractors, marketers, and others (the “kickback recipientg”) in
return for their referring workers’ compensation patients to Pacific
Hospital for spinal surgeries, other types of surgeries, magnetic
resonance imaging, toxicology, durable medical equipment, and other
services, to bé paid through FECA and the CWCS. For spinal
surgeries, typically, defendant offered to pay a kickback of $15,000
per lumbar fusion surgery and $10,000 per cervical fusion surgery
provided that the surgeon used in the surgery hardware supplied by a
specified distributor. Beginning in approximately 2008, deféndantfs
company I2 typically was the specified distributor; if the surgeon
did not use I2’'s hardware in thé surgery, the kickbacks offeréd were
smaller,

Influenced by the promise of kickbacks, the kickback recipients
referred patients insured through the CWCS and the FECA to Pacific
Hospital fof spinal surgeries, other types of surgeries, and other
medical services. In some cases, the patients lived dozens or
hundreds of miles from Pacific Hospital, and closer to other
qualified medical facilities. The workers’ compensation patients
were not informed that the medical professionals had been offered
kickbacks to induce them to refer the surgeries to Pacific Hospital.

Pursuant to the kickback agreements, the kickback recipients
referred patients to Pacific Hogpital. In the case of spinal
surgeries, as part of the kickback agreements, surgeons often used
the specified distributor, ineluding I2. Typically, for surgeries
covered by the CWCS, the price I2 or the co-conspirator distributor.

charged for the hardware was inflated by a multiple of the price at
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which I2 or the other distributor had purchased the device from the
manufacturer,

Pacific Hospital submitted-claims, by mail and electronically,
to workers’ compensation insurance carriers for payment of the costs
of the surgeries and other medical services. For a Spinal surgery,
Pacific Hospital typically submiﬁted a claim for the hospital;s

services and the medical hardware used in the surgery. For

.surgeries covered by the CWCS, Pacific Hospital submitted the

inflated invoice for the hardware from I2 or other specified
distributors who were co-conspirators, plus an additional $250.
Thus, the purported “pass-through” costrsubmitted in the claims for
medical hardware was thousands of dollars -- and sometimes teﬁs of
thousandé of dollars —-- higher than what the manufacturer actually
charged and what I2 or the co-congpirator distributor actually paid
for the hardware. |

As defendant and his co-conspirators knew, federal and
Californié law prohibited paying or receiving the aforementioped
kickbacks for the referral of patients for medical services:
Defendant and his co-conspirators also knew that the insurance
carriers would be unwilling to pay claims for medical services that
were bbtained through such illegal kickbacks. Moreover, defendant
and his co-conspirators knew that the insurance carriers would be
unwilling to pay claims for spinal surgery hardware that were
artificially inflated and substantially above the manufacturer’s
price. However, defendant and his co-conspirators deliberately did
not disclose to the insurance carriers the kickbacks, the inflation
of the medical hardware, or the fact that I2 was owned and

controlled by defendant and was not a manufacturer of such hardware.
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Rather, at some point, defendant and his co-conspirators included on
T2's invoices stamps falsely stating that I2 was an “FDA Registered
Manufacturer.”

Further, to conceal the illegal kickback payments from the
workers' compensation insurance carriers and patients, defendant and
his co—cﬁnspirators entered into bogus contracts under which the
kickback recipients purported to provide services to defendant’s
companies to justify the kickbaﬁk payments. The services and other
items of value discussed in those contracts were, in fact, generally

not provided to Pacific Hospital or were provided at highly inflated

prices. The compensation to the kickback recipients was actually

based on the number and type of surgeries they referred to the
hospital. These contracts_included, aﬁong others, the-foilowing:
collection agreements, option agreements, research and devélopment
égreements, lease and rental agreements; consulting agreements,
marketing agreements, and management agreemerits.

Defendant and his cc«ccnspiratqrs kept records of the number of-
surgeries and other medical services performed at Pacific Hospital
due to referrals from the kickback recipients, as well as amounts
paid to the kickback recipients for those referrals.. Periodically,
defendant and others amended the bogus contracts with the kickback
recipients to increase or éecrease the amount of agreed compensation
described in the contracts, in order to match the amount of
kickbacks paid or promised in return for referrals.

From in or around 2008 to in or around April 2013, Pacific
Hospital billed workers' compensation insurance carriers
approximately $500 million in claims for several thousand spinal

surgeries that were the result of the payment of kickbacks; and
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defendant and other co-conspiratoré paid kickbéck recipients between
approximately $20 million and $50 million in kickbacks relating to
those claims.

To preserve his ability to pass on the inflated spinal surgery
hardware costs to the insurance carriers, and thus to help to pay
the kickbacks, defendant provided a stream of financial benefits to
Senator Caidercn in order to induce the senator to oppose
legislation and regulation that would have eliminated the “pass-
through” rule, as.well as to support legislation that would have
gupported defendant’s health care fraud schemef For example, at
Senator Calderon’s request, defendant agreed to pay Senator
Calderon’s son $10,000 per summer (take-home or net) to work as a
summer file clerk for defendant’s company in 2010; 2011, and 2012,
Defendant would not have ordinarily done this, but did so here in
order to ensure that Senator Calderon would take positions on spinal
surgery and pass-through legislation favorable to defendant. In
2010, at Senator Calderon’s request, defendant caused his company to
pay Senator Calderqn's gon $10,000 upfront to be a summer file
clerk. 1In 2011, again at Senator Calderon’s request, defendant
éaused his company to pay Senator Calderon’s son $10,000 to be a
summer file clerk. In 2012, defendant made Senator Calderon’s son a
W-2 employee, which caused taxes to be withheld from his paycheck.
When Senator Calderon informed defendant that his son needed to net
$10,000 in the summer, defendant caused hig company, despite that it
was in financial difficulty and 1aying_0ff workers, to pay Senator
Calderon’s son an increased amount of up to near $18,000 so that
Senator Calderon’s son would net $10,000 for the summer of 2012.

Defendant ensured that his company made these payments to Senator
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Caldercn’s gon each summer regardléss of how few days Senator
Calderon’s son actually worked.

In addition, on several occasions and while Senétor Calderon
was supporting legislative positions favorable to defendant,
défendant took Senator Calderon to exclusive, high-end golf resorté.
Defendant paid for these golf outings in order to ensure Senator
Calderon’s continued legislative support. Additionally, defendant
took Senator Calderon out to expensive dinners and provided him with
free flights on a private plane. All of these financial benefits
were intended to ensure that Senator Calderon would take legislative
positions favorable to defendant and Pacific Hospital, which would
allow defendant to continue to commit and expand his health care
fraud scﬁeme. In response to these financial benefits from
defendant, Senator Calderon, among other things, arranged meetings
for defendant with other senators to discuss defendant’s legislative
agenda and advocated positions on legislation that would financially
benefit defendant and Pacific Hospital.

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to accomplish the objects
of the conspiracy, defendant and other co-conspirators committed
various overt‘acts within the Central District of California,
including but not limited to the following:

Overt Act No. 1

On or about November 10, 2009, defendant caused a check in the
amount of $43,650.00 from SCIF to be sent by mail to Pacific |
Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on patient
J.M. performed by doctor C.D., which claim was induced byrthe
payment of a kickback to J.C. -

/7
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Overt Act No. 2

In or around February 2010, defendant met with
Senator .Calderon in Sacramento, California and agreed to hire
Senator Calderon’s son each summer for the next several summers and
to pay him $10,000 per summer, so that Senator Calderon wouid_have
enough money to pay for his son’s college tuition.

Overt Act ND. 3

On or about April 14, 2010, defendant caused a check in the
amount of $90,467.80 from SCIF to be sent by mail to Pacific
Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on patient
L.T. perfor&ed by doctor M.C., which claim was induced by the
payment of a kickback to P.S. |

Overt Act No., 4

In or around April 2010, defendant had Senator Calderon meet

with a Director at the Division of Workers' Compensation and discuss

the negative impact that proposed regulations would have on Pacific

Hospital and other hospitals.

Overt Act No. 5

On or about July 13, 2010, defendant caused Senator Calderon’s
son to be paid $10,000 in advance of clerical work Senator
Calderon’s son was to perform at one of defendant’s companies.

Overt Act No. 6

In or around February 2011, defendant had Senator Calderon meet
with Senator A and request that Senator A introduce legislation in
the California Senate that would be favorable to defendant.

Overt Act No, 7

On or about March 31, 2011, defendant caused a check in the

amount of $23,531.23 from Vanliner to be sent by mail to Pacific
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Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on patient
R.8., performed by doctor $.0., which claim was induced by the
payment of a kickback to S.0.

Overt Act No. 8

On or about July 11, 2011, defendant caused Senator Calderon's
son to be paid $5,000 for clerical work Senator Calderon’s son had
performed at one of defendant’s companies.

Overt Act No. 9

Oon or about August le, 2011, defendant caused Senator
Calderon’s son to be paid $5,000 for clerical work Senator
Calderon’s son had performed at one of defendant’'s companies.

Overt Act No. 10

On or about June 12, 2012, defendant had Senator Calderon

-arrange and participate in a meeting with Senator B, where Senator

Calderon and defendant discussed the negative impact Senator B’s
proposed legislation would have on Pacific Hospital and other
hospitals.

Overt Act No, 11

On or about June 29, 2012, defendant caused a kickback in the
amount of $100,000 to be paid to $.0. for the referral ofllumﬁar and
cervical spinal surgeries performed at Pacific Hospital, including
on patients covered by the FECA . |

Overt Act No, 12

On or about August 1, 2012, defendant authorized Senator
Calderon’s son to a gross salary of $18,510.90 for clerical work
Senator Calderon’s son was performing at one of defendant'’s

companies in order to guarantee that Senator Calderon’s son’'s take-
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home (or net) salary totaled approximately $10,000 for the summer of
2012.

Overt Act No. 13

On or abcut January 18, 2013, defendant causged a‘check in the
amount of $51,115.44 from Traveler’s Insurance to be sent by mail to
Pacific Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on
patient F.C. performed by doctor T.R., which claim was induced by
the payment of a kickback to T.R.

Overt Act No. 14

On or about January 24, 2013, defendant caused a check in the
émount of $117,142.36 from Vanliner to be sent by mail to Pacific
Hogpital in reimbursement for a c¢laim for spine surgery on patient
S.F. perforﬁed by doctor G.A., which claim was induced by the
payment of a kickback to G.A.

Overt Act No. 15

On or about April 24, 2013, defendant caused a check in the
amount of $24,209.90 from ICW to be sent by mail to Pacific Heospital
in reimbursement for a claim for spine suxgery on patient F.A.
performed by doctor L.T., which claim was induced by the payment of
a kickback to L.T.

Overt Act No. 16

On or about November 27, 2013, defendant causéd a check in the
amount of $50,903.76 from Travelex’s Insurance to be sent by mail to
Pacific Hospital in reimbursement for a claim for spine surgery on
patient T?V. performed by doctor L.T., which claim resulted from the

payment of a kickback to A.I.
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SENTENCING FACTORS

' 22. Defendant understands that in determining defendant'’'s
sentence the Court is required to calculate the applicable.
Sentencing Guidelines range and to consider that range, possible .
departures under the Sentencing Guidelines, and tﬂe other sentencing
facﬁors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). Defendant understﬁﬁds
that the Sentencing Guidelines are advisory only, that defendant
cannot have any expectation of receiving a sentence within the
calculated Sentencing Guidelines range, and that after considering
the Sentencing Guidelines and the other § 3553 (a) factors, the Court
will be free to exercise_its discretion to impose any sentence it
finds appropriate up to the maximum set by statute for the crimes of
conviction.

23, Defendant and the ﬂSAO agree to the following applicable

Sentencing Guidelines factors:

Base Offense Level: 6 [U.8.8.G. § 2B1.1l(a) (2}]

Specific Offense
Characteristics

Losggs between :
520M to $50M: +22 [U.8.8.G. § 2B1.1(b) (1) (L)]

More than 50 victims: +4 [U.8.8.G. § 2B1.1(b) (2)(BY)]

Federal health care
offense with gov't
program loss of

between $1M-$7M: +2 [U.8.8.G. § 2B1.1(b}(7}]
Adjustments

Aggravating Role: _ +4 [U.8.8.G. § 3Bl.1l(a)l
Acceptance of

Responsibility: -3 [U.8.8.G. § 3BE1.1]
Total: 35
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The USAO will agree to a two-level downward adjustment for
acceptance of responsibility (and, i1f applicable, move for an
additional one-level downward adjustment under U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(b))
only if the conditions set forth in paragraph 6{c¢)) are met.
Subject to paragraph 7 above and paragraph 35 below, defendant and
the USAC agree not to seek, argue, or suggest in any way, either
érally or in writing, that any other specific offense
characteristics, adjustments, or departures relating to the offense
level be imposed. Defendant.agrees, however, that if, after signing
this agreement but prior to sentencing, defendant were to commit an
act, or the USAO were to discover a previously undiscovered act
committed by defendant prior to signing this agreement, which act,
in the judgment of the USAO, constituted obstruction of justicel
within the meaning of U.8.8.G. § 3C1.1, the USAO would be free to
seek the enhancement set forth in that section.

24. Defendant understands that there is no agreement as to
defendant’s criminal history or criminal history category,

25. Defendant and the USAO reserve the right to argue for a
sentence outside the sentencing range established by the Sentencing
Guidelines based on the factors set forth in 18 U.8.C. § 3553(a) (1),
(a) (2), (a)(3), (a)(6), and (a) (7).

WAIVER COF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

26. Defendant understands that by pleading guilty, defendant
gives up the following rights: |
a) | The right to persist in a plea of not guilty.
b) The right to a speedy and public trial by jury.
c) The right to be represented by counsel - and if

necegsary have the court appoint counsel - at trial. Defendant
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understands, however, that, defendant retains the right to be
represented by counsel - and if necessary have the court appoint
coungel — at every other stage of the proceeding.

d) The right to be presumed innocent and to have the
burden of proof placed on the government to prove defendant gﬁilty
beyond a reasonable doubt.

e) The right to confront and cross-examine witnesses
against defendant.

£) The right to testify and to present evidence in
opposition to the charges, including the right to oompél the
attendance of witnesses to testify.

g) The right not to be compelled to testify; and, if
defendant chose not to testify or present evidence, to have that

choice not be used against defendant.

h}) Any and all rights to pursue any affirmative
defenses, Fourth Amendmént or Fifth Amendment claims, and other
pretrial motions that have been filed or could be filed.

WATVER OF APPEAL OF CONVICTION

27. Defendant understands that, with the exoeptioﬁ of an
appeal based on a claim that defendant’s guilty.pleas were
involuntary, by pleading guilty defendant is waiving and giving up
any right to appeal defendant’s convictioﬁs on the offenses to which

defendant is pleading guilty.

LIMITED MUTUAL WAILVER OF APPEAL OF SENTENCE

28. Defendant agrees that, provided the Court imposes a total
term of imprisonment on all counts of conviction of no more than the
low end of the Guidelines range corresponding to a total offense

level of 35 and defendant’s criminal history category, defendant .
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gives up the right to appeal all of the following: (a) the
procedures and calculations used to determine and impose any portion
of the sentence; (b) the term of imprisonment imposed by the Court,

provided it is within the statutory maximum; (¢) the fine imposged by

the court, provided it is within the statutory maximum; (d) the

amount and terms of any restitution order, provided it requires

payment of no more than $20,000,000; (e) the term of probation or

- supervised releage imposed by the Court, provided it is within the

statutory maximum; and (£) any of the following conditions of
probation or superviéed release imposed by the Court: the conditions
set forth in General Orders 318, 01-05, and/or 05-02 of this Court;
the drug testing conditions mandated by 18 U.S.C. §§ 3563(a) (5) and
3583(d); and the alcohol and drug use conditions authorized by 18
U.8.C. § 3563(b) (7).

29.A The USAO agrees that, provided (a) all portions of the
sentence are at or below the statutory maximum specified above and
(b) the Court imposes a term of imprisonment of no less than the low
end of the Guidelines range corresponding to a total offense level
of 35 and defendant’s criminal history category, the USAO gives up
its right to appeal any portion of the sentence, with the exception
that the USAO reserves the right to appeal the following: the.amount
of restitution ordered, if that amount is less than $50,000,000.

RESULT OF WITHDRAWAL OF GUILTY PLEA

30; Defendant agrees that 1f, after entering guilty pleas
pursuént to this agreement, defendant seeks to withdfaw and succeeds
in withdrawing defendant’s guilty pleas on any basis other than a
claim and finding that entry into this plea agreement was |

involuntary, then (a) the USAQO will be relieved of all of its
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obligations under this agreement, including'in particular its
obligations regarding the use of Cooperation Information; (b) in any
investigation, criminal progecution, or civil, administrative, or
regulatory action, defendant agrees that any Cooperation Information
and any evidenqe derived from any Cooperation Information shall be
admissible-against'defendant, and defendant will not assert, and
hereby waives and gives up, any claim under the United States
Constitution, any statute, or any federal rule, that any Cooperation
Information or any evidence derived from any Cooperation Information
should be suppressed or is inadmissible; and (c¢) should the USAD
choose to pﬁrsue any charge that was not filed as a result of this
agreement, then (1) any applicable statute of limitations will be
tolled between the date of defendant’s signing of this agreement énd
the filing commencing any such action; and (ii) defendant waives and
gives up all defenses based on the statute of limitations, any claim |
of pre-indictment delay, or any speedy trial claim with respect to
any such action, except to the extent that such.defenses existed as
of the date of defendant’s signing this agreement.

EFFECTIVE DATE OF AGREEMENT

31. This agreement is effective upon signature and execution
of all required certifications by defendant, defendant’s counsel,

and an Assistant United States Attorney.

BREACH OF AGREEMENT
32. Defendant agrees thét if defendant, at any timé after the
signature of this agreement and execution of all reqguired
certifications by defendant, defendant’s counsel, and an Assiétant
United States Attorney, knowingly viclates or fails to perform any

of defendant’s obligations under this agreement (“a breach”), the
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USAO may declare this agreement breached. For example, if defendant
knowingly, in an interview, before a grand jury, or at trial,
falsely accuges ancther person of criminal conduct or falsely
minimizes defeﬁdant’s owrn role, or the role of another, in criminal
conduct, defendant will have breached this agreement. All of
defendant’s ébligations are material, a single breach of thi§
agreement is sufficient for the USAO to declare a breach, and
defendant shall not be_deemed to haﬁe cured a breach without the
express agreement of the USAC in writing. If the USAOC declares this
agreement breached, and the Court finds such a breach to have
occurréd, then:

a) If defendant has previously entered guilty pleas
pursuant to this agreement, defendant will not be able to withdraw
the guilty pleas. ‘

b) The USAO will be relieved of all its obligations
under this agreement; in particular, the USAO: (i)} will no longer be
bound by any ag;eements-concerning sentenciné and will bhe free to
seek any sentence up to the statutory maximum for the crime to which
defendant has pleaded gquilty; (ii) will no longer be bound by any
agreements regarding criminal prosecution, and wili be free to
criminally prosecute defendant for any crime, including charges that
the USAO would otherwise have been obligated not to criminally
prosecute pursuant to this agreement; and {iii) will no longer be
bound by any agreement regarding the use of Cooperation Information
and willlbe free to use any Cooperation Information in any way in
any investigation, criminal prosecution, or 'eivil, administrative,

or regulatory action by the United States.
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| c) The USAO will be free to criminally prosecute
defendant for false statement, obstruction of justice, and perjury
based oﬁ any khowingly false or misleading statément by defendant .
d) In any investigation, criminal prosecution, or civil,
administrative, or regulatory action by the United States:
(i) défendant_will not assert, and hereby waives and giﬁes up, any
claim that any Cooperation Information was obtained in-violation of

the Fifth Amendment privilege against compelled self-incrimination;

and (ii} defendant agrees that any Cooperation Information and any

Plea Information, as well as any evidence derived from any
Cooperation Information or any Plea Information, shall be admissible
against defendant, and defendant will not assert, and hereby waives
and gives up, any claim under the United States Constitution,-any
statute, Rule 419 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, Ruie 11(f} of
the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, or any othér federal rule,
that any Cooperation Informaﬁion, any Plea Information, or any
evidence derived from any Cooperation Information or any Plea
Information should be suppressed‘or is inadmissible.

33. Following the Court’'s finding of a knowihg breaéh of this
agreement by defendant, should the USAO choose to pursue any charge
that was not filed as a result of thié agreement, then:

a) Defendant agrees that any applicable statute of
1imitati§ns is tolled between the date of defendant’s signing of
this agreement and the filing commencing ahy suqh action.

b) Defendant waives and gives up all defenses based on
the statute of limitations, any_claim of pre—indictment delay, or

any speedy trial claim with respect to any such action, except to
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the extent that such defenses existed as of the date of defendant’s

signing this agreement.

COURT AND PROCBATION QOFFICE NOT PARTIES

34, Defendant understands that the Court and the United-Stétes
Probation Office are not parties to this agreement and need not
accept any of the USAC’'s sentencing recommendatigns or the parties’
agreements to facts or sentencing factors.

35. Defendant understands that both defendant and the USAO are
free to: (a) supplement the facts by supplying relevant information
to the United States Probation Office and the Court, (b) correct any
and all factual misstatements relating to the Court’s Sentencing
Guidelines calculations and determination of sentence, and (c¢) argué
on appeal and cellateral review that the Court’s Sentencing
Guidelines calculations and the sentence it chooses to impose are
not error, although each party agrees to maintain its view that the
calculations in paragraph 23 are consistent with the facts of this
case. While this paragraph-permits both the USAC and defendant to
submit full and complete factual information to the United States
Probation bffice and the Court, even if that factual information may
be viewed as inconsistent with the facts agreed to in this

agreement, this pafagraph does not affect defendant’s and the USAOQ's

obligations not to contest the facts agreed to in this agreement.

36. Defendant understands that even if the Court ignores any
sentencing recommendation, finds facts or reaches conclusions
different from those agreed to, and/or imposes any sentence up to
the maximum established by statute, deféndant cannot, for that
reason, withdraw defendant’s guilty pleas, and defendant will remain

bound to fulfill all defendant’s obligations under this agreement,
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Defendant understands that no one -- not the prosecutor, defendant’s
attorney, or the Court -- can make a binding prediction or promise
regarding the sentence defendant will receive, except that it will

be within the statutory maximum.

NO ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

37. Defendaﬁt understands that, except as set forth herein,
there are no promises, understandings, or agreements between the
USAD and defendant or defendant’s attorney, and that no additional
promise, understanding, or agreement may be entered into unless in a
writing signed by all parties or on the record in court.

PLEA AGREEMENT PART OF THE GUILTY PLEA HEARING

38. The parties agree that this agreement will be.considered
part of the record of defendant’s guilty plea hearing as if the

entire agreement had been read into the record of the proceeding.

AGREED AND ACCEPTED

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY'S OFFICEH
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT O: CALIFORNIA

ANDRE BIROTTE JR, .7
United States Atig

2 /2 d/_zél

Dateo

JEANNIE M. JOSFTH
Assisfﬁqt United States Attorney

——

e ’mwﬁﬁé:; s : '
</K_ - - s 70, 2ol

MICHAEZ D. DROBOT Date o
Defendant -

LN\ — e 20 Loy
JEFIREY ﬂUVHPﬁTORD[JANET LEVLINE Nate ' ‘

Attorneys~for Defendant
M1Phae1 . Drobof

Ay pe

e : LT P —

TARREW A, BOWERS Date
Attorney for Defendant
Michael D. Drobot
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CERTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT

I have read this agreement in its entirety. I have had enough
time Lo review and consider this'agreement, and I have carefully and
thoroughly discussed every part of it with my éttdrneys. I
understand the terms of this agreement, and I voluntarily agree to
those terms. I have discussed'the evidence with my attorneys, and
my attorneys have advised me of my rights, of possible pretrial
motions ‘that might be filed, of possible defenses that might be
asserted either prior to or at trial, of the sentencing factors set
forth in 18 U.S8.C. § 3553(a), of relevant Sentencing Guidelines
provisions, and of the consequences of entering‘into this agreement.
No promises, inducements, or representations of any kind have been
made to me other than those contained ih this agreement. No one has
threatened or forced me in any way to enter into this agreemeﬁt. I
am satisTied with the representation of my attorneys in this matter,
and T am pleading guilty because I am guilty of the c¢harges and wish
to take advantage of the promises set forth in this agreement, and

not for any other reason.

=z 20 2ol
MICHAEL D, DROBOT - Date : ’
Defendant
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CERTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT’S ATTORNEY

I am Michael D. Drobot’s attorney. I have carefully and’
thoroughly discussed every part cof this agreement with my client.
Further, I have fully advised my client of his rights, of possible
-pretrial motions that might be filed, of possible defenses that
might be asserted either prior to or at trial, of the sentencing
factors set forth in 18 U.S5.C. § 3553(a), of relevant Sentencing
Guidelines provisions, and of the consequences of entering intoc this
agreement. To my knowledge: no promises, inducements, or

representations of any kind have been made to my client other than

I those contained in this agreement:; no one has threatened or forced

my client in any way to enter into this agreement; my client's
decision to enter intc this agreement is an informed and voluntary
one; and the factual basis set forth in this agreement is sufficient

to support my client’s entry of gullty pleas pursuant to this

agreement.

fh.20 1Y

ET LEVINE Date

t

Attorngys for Defendan
Michael D. Drobot
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CERTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY

I am Michael D, Drobot’s attorney. I have carefully and
thoroughly discussed every part of this agreement with my client.
Further, I have fully advised my client of his rights, of possgible
pretrial motions thaﬁ might be filed, of possible defenses that
might be asserted either prior te or at trial, of the sentencing
factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553 (a), of relevant Sentgncing
Guidelines provisiong, and of the consequences of entering into this
agreement, To my knowlédge: no promises, inducements, or
representations of any kind have been made to my client other than
thoge contained in_thisragreement; noe one has thfeatened or forced
my client in any way to enter into this agreement; my client’s

decision to enter into this agreement isg an informed and voluntary

one; and the factual basis set forth in this agreement is sufficient

to gupport my client’s entry of guilty pleas pursuant to this

agreement.
i EL i e
TERREE A. BOWERS Date

Attdrney for Defendant
MicHael D. Drobot
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CEFTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Iam a citizen of the United States and a residentrof Orange County,
California. I am over 18 vears of age, and I am not a party to the above-
entitled action. My businesé address is the United States Attorney's‘Office,
Ronald Reagan Federél Building and United States Courthogse, 411 West Fourth
Street, Suite 8000, Santa Ana, California 92701.

That I am employed by the United States Attorney for the Centwal
Digtrict of California, who is a member of the Bar of the United States
District Court for the Central District of_Californig, at whose direction the
service was made. On this date, February 21, 20i4, I served a copy of the .
foregoing documeﬁté, descoribed as follows: PLEA AGREEMENT FOR DEFENDANT
MICHAEL D. DROBOT in the following manner:

& by placing a true copy in a sealed énvelope, addressed to the

person speéified below, and placing it for interoffice delivery within the

courthouse:
5 by placing the document in a sealed envelope, bearing the

et

requisite postage thereon, and placing it for mailing via the U.8. Postal

Service addressed as follows:

i by fax to the person and fax number apecified below:

£ by e-mailing a pdf. version of the document to the e-mail
address gpecified below:

Jeffrey H. Rutherford/JFanet Levine
Crowell & Moring LLP

515 South Flower Street, 40 Floor
Los Angeles, California 90017

Terree A. Bowers

Arent Fox

555 West Fifth Street, 48" Floor
Los Angeles, California 90013

I declare undaf penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and

correct, executed on Pebruary 21, 2014, at Santa Ana, California.
ﬂ. A HERNANDEZ
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL
(C.C.P. section 1013(a), 2015.5)

[ am over the age of 18 years and not a party to the entitled action. My business address is
1515 Clay Street, 18" Floor, Oakland, California 94612.

I served the following documents:

¢ Notice of Provider Suspension — Workers’ Compensation

e Information in United States of America v. Michael D. Drobot (Case No. SACR 14-00034) —
U.S. District Court (Central District of California, Southern Division)

e Reporter’s Transcript of Proceedings — Change of Plea — dated April 24, 2014 in United
States of America v. Michael D. Drobot (Case No. SACR 14-00034-JLS) — U.S. District
Court (Central District of California)

e Plea Agreement for Defendant Michael D. Drobot in United States of America v. Michael D.
Drobot (Case No. SACR 14-00034) — U.S. District Court (Central District of California,
Southern Division)

on the following person(s) at the following address(es):

Michael D. Drobot
1933 Bayside Drive
Corona del Mar, CA 92625

Michael D. Drobot
2 Gondoliers Bluff
Newport Coast, CA 92657

The documents were served by the following means:

[X] (BY U.S. CERTIFIED MAIL) I enclosed the documents in a sealed envelope or package
addressed to the person(s) at the address(es) listed above and:

[X] Placed the envelope or package for collection and mailing, following our ordinary business
practices. I am readily familiar with the firm’s practice for collection and processing correspondence
for mailing. Under that practice, on the same day that correspondence is placed for collection and
mailing, it is deposited in the ordinary course of business with the U.S. Postal Service, in a sealed
envelope or package with the postage fully prepaid.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of State of California that the above is true
and correct.

Executed on March 28, 2017, at Oakland, California.

CATHY FUITTA-LAM






